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Our 2017 cover depicts the emergence of TECU Credit Union (TECU) into 
the arena of providing state of the art technical services to our membership 
via TECH-U E-Services. 

The theme “TECH-U E-Services Connect-
ing with our Members” signals and sup-
ports the convenience of 24/7 access to 
your money, services and information 
about TECU, all available at your finger-

tips. The service offers and allows the member the flexibility and choice to 
conduct a number of TECU transactions locally or internationally.

TECH-U E-Services was the most significant accomplishment for 2017. 
Providing Internet and Mobile Services at a time when our members are 
seeking competitive financial options, TECU is now poised to offer those 
options to our members and remain your premiere provider for all your 
financial and co-operative needs.
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To be the leading Credit Union Co-operative in the Caribbean. 

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited is committed to:

• The co-operative philosophy and principles of volunteerism, 
thrift, democratic governance – one member one vote, 
member ownership and control and the respect for the 
individual employee and for his/her well being

• The interest of our members at all times

• An established code of ethics including confidentiality, 
integrity, honesty and mutual respect

• Visionary leadership, prudent management and compliance 
with statutory regulatory bodies

• Continuous improvement of services and the introduction of 
innovative products for the satisfaction of members

• An environment of excellence, through continuous 
organisational learning, friendly and courteous service

• Preservation of the environment 

• Good corporate citizen 

To improve the quality of life and sustain the confidence of our 
members by providing excellent returns, innovative products 
and superior services through trustworthy, committed and well 
trained employees and volunteers whilst maintaining good 
governance. 

Vision

Mission

Values
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National Anthem of 
Trinidad & Tobago
Forged from the love of liberty

In the fires of hope and prayer,

With boundless faith in our destiny

We solemnly declare:

Side by side we stand,

Islands of the blue Caribbean Sea.

This our native land,

We pledge our lives to thee.

Here every creed and race 

Find an equal place,

And may God bless our Nation.

Here every creed and race

Find an equal place, 

And may God bless our Nation.

(Pat Castagne)

Lord, make me an instrument of thy Peace.

Where there is hatred, Let me sow Love.

Where there is injury, Pardon;

Where there is doubt, Faith;

Where there is despair, Hope;

Where there is darkness, Light;

And where there is sadness, Joy.

 

O Divine Master, 

Grant that I may not so much seek

To be consoled as to console;

To be understood as to understand;

To be loved as to love;

For it is in giving that we receive;

It is in pardoning that we are pardoned;

And it is in dying 

That we are born to eternal life.

(St. Francis of Assisi)

Credit Union Prayer
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 
(NO 71/2018)

Notice is hereby given that the 71st Annual General Meeting of TECU CREDIT UNION CO-
OPERATIVE SOCIETY LIMITED will be held at the PETROTRIN Pointe-A-Pierre Club on Friday 
20th April 2018 at 4.30 p.m.

Registration commences at 2.30 p.m. 

• Receive the reports of the Board of Directors, Supervisory, Credit, Education and 
Nominating Committees and the Financial Statements of the Credit Union for the year 
ended 31 December, 2017.

• Recommend the dividend to be paid to members for the year ended 31 December, 2017.

• Elect Officers.

• Appoint Auditors.

• Resolutions.

• Transact other ordinary business of the Credit Union.

Sandra Matthews-Noel 
Honorary Secretary 

AGENDA

1. Call to order

2. Reading of notice convening meeting 

3. Confirmation of minutes and matters 
arising there from – Annual General 
Meeting No. 70/2017

4. Motion that the financial statements 
and all reports as presented be taken 
as read

5. Adoption of reports:

(a) Board of Directors

(b) Supervisory Committee

(c) Credit Committee

(d) Education Committee

(e) Nominating Committee

6. Adoption of financial statements

7. Election of Officers:

(a) Supervisory Committee – 5

(b) Credit Committee – 5 

(c) Board of Directors – 4 

8. Movement of Resolutions

9. Reading of Correspondence 

10. Presentation of Awards 

11. Discussion of general business 

12. Destroying of the ballots

13. Vote of thanks 
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Standing Orders 

1. (a) A member shall stand when addressing the Chairman.

 (b) Speeches are to be clear and relevant to the subject before the 
meeting. 

2. A member shall only address the meeting when called upon by the 
Chairman to do so, after which, he/she shall immediately take his/her 
seat.

3. No member shall address the meeting except through the Chairman

4. A member may not speak twice on the same subject except:

(a) The mover of a motion who has the right of reply

(b) He/she rises to object or to explain (with the permission of the 
Chairman).

5. The mover of a “Procedural Motion” (Adjournment, lay on the table, 
Motion to Postpone) shall have no right of reply.

6. No speeches are to be made after the “Question” has been put and 
carried or negated.

7. A member rising on a “Point of Order” is to state the point clearly and 
concisely. (A point of Order” must have relevance to the Standing 
Orders).

8. (a) A member shall not “Call another member to order” but may draw 
the attention of the Chair to a “Breach of Order”

(b) In no event can a member call the Chairman to order.

9. Only one amendment should be before the meeting at one and the 
same time.

10. When a motion is withdrawn, any amendment to it fails.

11. The Chairman shall have the right to a “casting vote”

12. If there is equality of voting on an amendment, and if the Chairman 
does not exercise his casting vote, the amendment is lost.

13. Provisions is to be made for protection by the Chairman from vilification 
(personal abuse).

14. No member shall impute improper motives against another member. 
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loans
LAND/PROPERTY PURCHASE

HOME CONSTRUCTION

HOUSE REPAIRS

MORTGAGE REFINANCING

TAKE ADVANTAGE OF  TECU’S
APPLY TODAY AND

OFFERS 

mortgage

COMPETITIVE
INTEREST
RATES

no PROCESSING

FEES
NO PENALTIES
FOR EARLY
/ADDITIONAL
PAYMENTS

REDUCED
LEGAL
FEES

 800-TECU (8328) 
Marabella | Couva | Point Fortin

www.tecutt.com

let            get
you there!

                is where
    the heart is....

HOME

TECU

*Special Conditions Apply
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Minutes of Annual General Meeting 2017
the 70th Annual General Meeting held on Friday, May 12, 2017
at the PETROTRIN, Pointe-a-Pierre Club

1. Call to Order

The Chairman, Mr. Ronald F. Jones, called the 
meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. and advised that 
there were six hundred and sixty-five (665) 
members registered at the time of convening 
the meeting; as such, there was a quorum. The 
National Anthem was played.

2. Invocation

The Credit Union Prayer was recited by the 
members present.

3. Safety Briefing

Officer Curtis Roberts of the PETROTRIN Pointe-à-Pierre Fire Department delivered a safety briefing.

4. Minute of Silence

A minute of silence was observed for all members who passed away during the year.

5. Notice Convening Meeting

The Chairman invited the Honorary Secretary, Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel, to read the Notice of the 
Annual General Meeting.

6. President’s Address

The President, Mr. Ronald F. Jones, welcomed all 
members present to the 70th Annual General 
Meeting on behalf of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Jones highlighted that the Credit Union had 
just convened its 70th Annual General Meeting, 
which is another significant milestone event, 
and that we must all be very proud of what 
TECU has achieved.

Members were advised that TECU continued to 
support youth development with its internship 
programme where sixteen (16) young men and 
women were exposed to the world of work over 
a two-month period mid-June to mid-August. 
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

Another group of young people were recipients of the S.E.A. (77 students) and Tertiary (13 students) 
Bursary Awards. In the field of sporting activities, the Credit Union also continued its sponsorship of 
the Presentation College Senior Team in the Secondary Schools Football League, where they became 
the South Inter Col Champions. TECU also supported ten (10) Secondary and Primary Schools that 
required specific assistance with respect to school repairs.

The President indicated that, as the year came to a close, TECU had initiated the upgrade of its Flexcube 
system, which went live on December 5, 2016. This system is used to manage the technology and 
business operations of the Credit Union to facilitate an improvement in the quality and efficiency of 
service to members. 

Members were advised that there are a few business activities upon which to focus as a matter of 
priority; 

• A building to house the Point Fortin operations

• The Chaguanas Lands Development where in Phase 1 fifty-five (55) residential lots are available 
to the members with an additional twenty-nine (29) residential lots  in Phase 2

• To provide service to outlying communities and taking the Credit Union to the communities as 
expressed/advised by Ms. Anne Cochrane, outgoing President of WOCCU at the 2016 Conference 
in Belfast

• Making a decision on how to provide for our membership who enjoy the Mayaro ambience.

In closing, the President thanked the very loyal 41,582 members who continue to believe in TECU, 
and all Officers who continue to give of their time freely and serve without fanfare. Working as a 
unified TEAM TECU, what we have achieved to date in our history is THE TRIUMPH OF PEOPLE OF 
MODEST MEANS THROUGH THE VOLUNTEER SPIRIT.

7. Standing Orders

The Honorary Secretary, Mrs. Sandra Matthews-
Noel, read the fourteen (14) Standing Orders. 

A motion for the adoption of the Standing 
Orders was moved by Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis 
and seconded by Ms. Michelle Badal. All were in 
favour of the motion.

8. Errors and Omissions

There were no errors or omissions.

9. Adoption of Minutes of the 69th Annual General Meeting

The Minutes of the 69th Annual General Meeting, held on April 22, 2016, were subsequently taken 
as read. 

On a motion moved by Mr. Stephen Ramsden and seconded by Mr. Shaffayate Ali the Minutes were 
adopted. All were in favour of the motion.
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

10. Matters Arising

Mr. Anthony Soochit indicated that he had an 
issue with the external Auditors and the fact 
that the Annual General Meeting had to be 
rescheduled due to late delivery of the brochure.

10.1 Mr. Godfrey Ransome advised that 
year after year he requested a Budget 
statement be included in the Annual 
Report and he feels a degree of apathy 
and resistance by the Board to address a 
legitimate request from the membership. 
The Chairman advised that the statement would have been provided upon registration and 
requested that one of the ushers provide a copy to Mr. Ransome.

11. Motion to Adopt Reports

A motion that all Reports be taken as read was moved by Mr. Stephen Tang and seconded by Mr. 
Shaffayate Ali. All were in favour of the motion.

12. Board of Directors’ Report

12.1 Mr. Godfrey Ransome highlighted on page 29 – Delinquency. He observed that the Credit 
Union crossed the red line zone of 5.5%. The Chairman indicated that the Report indicates 
4.98%, Mr. Ransome advised that according to his calculation the delinquency rate is in fact 
5%. Mr. Ransome enquired on the measures being taken by the Credit Union to correct the 
high delinquency rate.

12.2 The General Manager advised that the Credit Union is engaging in activities, e.g. rescheduling 
loan facilities for members, to remedy the issue.

12.3 Mr. Anthony Soochit requested information relative to page 32 – Land Development, 
Chaguanas and the cost of the development and what method is being employed for the 
land distribution. He further enquired whether it was possible that no one will have an unfair 
advantage due to his/her financial status.

12.4 The General Manager advised that the land distribution is expected to start in June 2017. The 
project was split into different activities: Phase 1 entails backfilling and box drain construction, 
which is ongoing. Phase 2 includes water reticulation, which is ongoing; installation of water 
meters; site grading, which has been completed, and ongoing road construction. Electrification 
has not yet started, this is to be done in tandem with T&TEC. The distribution process will be 
conducted via a lottery process governed by an external entity.

12.5 A motion to adopt the Board of Directors’ Report was moved by Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack and 
seconded by Ms. Inga Crichlow. All were in favour of the motion.
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13. Specially Invited Guests

The Chairman acknowledged the presence of specially invited guests: Representatives of the Ministry 
of Labour, Small & Micro Enterprise Development, Ms. Elizabeth Spence, Ms. Rhonda Joseph and 
Ms. Aazida Mohammed. Representatives from Girwar & Deonarine, Attorneys-at-Law, Mr. Michael 
Kalliecharan and Ms. Kai-Lee Phillips. Representatives of Grant Thornton, ORBIT Solutions, Mr. Giles 
Leung and Ms. Dana Joseph. Representative of CLICO, Mr. Jemmot Manmohan.

14. Supervisory Committee Report

14.1 The Chairman directed Mr. Godfrey Ransome to page 43, item 10 – Delinquency, where it 
stated the Credit Union was making efforts to control delinquency.

14.2 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott made reference to item 8 – Bank Reconciliation and Cash Count, 
and enquired whether cash counts were conducted at the other branches during the year as 
other financial institutions conduct cash counts weekly.

14.3 The Chairman of the Supervisory Committee, Mr. Anthony Solomon, advised that in previous 
years, cash counts were in good order. Point Fortin branch was the only one which did not 
adhere to all policies and procedures, so a cash count was conducted at that branch. The 
Committee is unable to perform counts at all branches due to competing priorities. The 
Committee also recognised that the Credit Union has an Internal Audit Department which will 
conduct similar exercises.

14.4 The General Manager advised that in the absence of an Internal Auditor, monthly cash counts 
are conducted at the management level and bi-annually by the Internal Audit Department.

14.5 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott enquired whether the Credit Union could prepare a list of all 
delinquent members as some members may know their whereabouts. The Chairman advised 
that the Credit Union does not subscribe to such practices, however, Mrs. Richards-Scott can 
visit the office of the General Manger to acquire the relevant information.

14.6 A motion for the adoption of the Supervisory Committee Report was moved by Mrs. Cheryl 
Richards-Scott and seconded by Mr. Hugh Fraser. All were in favour of the motion.

15. Specially Invited Guests

The Chairman recognised the arrival of Mrs. 
Deborah-Ann Scott from the Ministry of Labour 
- Co-operative Division, Mr. Fitzroy Ottley from 
Works Credit Union and Mr. Daniel Thomas, 
representative of Guayaguayare Credit Union.

16. Credit Committee Report

16.1 Ms. Pearl Lewis-Brown indicated she found 
the Report boring and would have liked to 
see charts incorporated.

16.2 A motion for the adoption of the Credit Committee Report was moved by Mrs. Inga Crichlow 
and seconded by Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh. All were in favour of the motion.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)

17. Education Committee Report

A motion for the adoption of the Education 
Committee Report was moved by Ms. Alisha 
Ramdeen and seconded by Mrs. Lucy Ottley. All 
were in favour of the motion.

18. Financial Statements

18.1 The General Manager presented the 
Statement of Management Responsibility, 
which is a new Audit requirement.

18.2 The Independent Auditor’s Report was presented by Ms. Dana Joseph of Grant Thornton, 
ORBIT Solutions.

18.3 The Honorary Treasurer advised that on page 54, the Balance Sheet is presented in a new 
format, recommendations will be made for amendments to the format in 2017.

18.4 Mr. Godfrey Ransome enquired on the quantum of delinquent loans greater than twelve (12) 
months.

18.5 Mr. Ransome indicated that the provision for loan loss on page 77 reflects a credit balance and 
enquired whether this was correct. In response, the Honorary Treasurer advised that the loan 
portfolio is reduced to a net of the provision.

18.6 Mr. Ransome sought an explanation for the opening balance of $30,083,103 figure being 
reduced. The Honorary Treasurer made reference to the Auditors Report re: Loan Interest 
revenue and advised that TECU is utilising the cash basis, which is not in accordance with 
International Accounting Standard 1. In response to an enquiry on whether utilising the 
accruals basis of accounting would have affected the dividend payable to the membership, 
the Honorary Treasurer advised that expenses such as CUNA Insurance premiums, which are 
absorbed by the Credit Union, if passed on to the membership can increase the dividend 
payable by 1%.

18.7 Mrs. Cheryl Richards-Scott highlighted on page 57 – Cash Flow from Operating Activities, 
Amortisation of Investment Interest Income and Interest Expenditure are missing. The 
Honorary Treasurer advised that these items were restated due to a change in accounting 
policies. 

18.8 The Audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 were adopted on a 
motion moved by Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack and seconded by Mr. Carl McLean. All were in favour. 

19. Specially Invited Guests

The Chairman acknowledged the presence of representatives of the ASJA Boys’ College Junior Co-
operative, Kieron Seelochan, Matthew Boodlal, Aaron Ganga and Simeon Seelochan.

20. Resolutions

20.1 Dividends

 WHEREAS TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (TECU) has realised a net surplus 
for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 and whereas Bye-Law 46 of TECU makes 
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provision for the distribution of this surplus in accordance with the regulations of the Co-
operative Societies Act.

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT a dividend of 3% be declared on members’ shares for the period January 
01, 2016 to December 31, 2016.

 A motion to adopt the resolution that a dividend of 3% be paid for the period January 01, 2016 
to December 31, 2016 was moved by Mr. Mitra Attai, Honorary Treasurer and seconded by Mr. 
Shaffayate Ali.  All were in favour of the motion.  

20.2 Appointment of Auditors

 WHEREAS Bye-Law 54 of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (TECU) requires the 
Annual General Meeting to appoint an Auditor for the ensuing term.

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT Grant Thornton – ORBIT Solutions be appointed Auditors of TECU for the 
financial year January 01, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

 A motion to adopt the resolution for appointment of Grant Thornton – ORBIT Solutions as 
Auditors for the financial year ended December 31, 2017 was moved by Mr. Brian Tangwell, 
General Manager and seconded by Mr Stephen Ramsden.  All were in favour of the motion.

20.3 Bad Debts

 WHEREAS Bye-Law 15 (viii) of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (TECU) makes 
provision for approval of Bad Debts at the Annual General Meeting.

 BE IT RESOLVED THAT the sum of Four Million, Nine Hundred and Ninety-Eight Thousand, Nine 
Hundred and Twenty-Four dollars and Fifty-Four cents ($4,998,924.54) be written off by the Society.

 A motion to adopt the resolution that the sum of Four Million, Nine Hundred and Ninety-Eight 
Thousand, Nine Hundred and Twenty-Four dollars and Fifty-Four cents ($4,998,924.54) be 
written off by the Society was moved by Mr. Brian Tangwell, General Manager and seconded 
by Ms. Doreen Williams.  All were in favour of the motion.

21. Nominating Committee Report

A motion for the adoption of the Nominating Committee Report was moved by Mr. Hercial Vitalis 
and seconded by Ms. Michelle Badal. All were in favour of the motion.

22. Election of Officers

22.1 The Chairman advised that there were four 
hundred and twenty-two (422) members 
present. The membership was advised 
that Mr. David Moe, Ms. Irene Hamid and 
Ms. Marcia Goodridge, past President of 
the Credit Union League of Trinidad and 
Tobago Southern Chapter, will be presiding 
over the election of Officers.

 Ms. Candice Sarwan of ROSE IT Services 
Limited delivered a powerpoint 
presentation that provided the membership 
with guidelines on the process for voting.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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 Mr. David Moe indicated that the registration of members will now cease as the election was 
about to commence. 

22.2 Mr. Moe advised that only three (3) nominations were received for the Supervisory Committee, 
therefore a minimum of four (4) nominations was required from the floor to provide for a full 
complement of the Committee and alternates. 

 Messrs. Anthony Solomon and Stephen Ramsden were nominated by Mrs. Lucy Ottley, the 
nomination was seconded by Mrs. Inga Crichlow. 

 Mr. Daniel Bisnath was nominated by Mr. Shaffayate Ali, the nomination was seconded by Ms. 
Urmilla Bisnath.

 Ms. Alisha Ramdeen was nominated by Mrs. Sandra Matthews- Noel, the nomination was 
seconded by Ms. Inga Crichlow.

 The nominees for the Supervisory Committee were Dianne Lochan, Tabitha Thomas, Hercial 
Vitalis, Anthony Solomon, Stephen Ramsden, Daniel Bisnath and Alisha Ramdeen. 

 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mrs. Tracy Ramsden-Boyce and seconded by 
Mr. Anthony Solomon. All were in favour of the motion.

 The nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership. 

22.3 Mr. Moe advised that six (6) nominations were received for the Credit Committee, therefore at 
least one (1) nomination was required from the floor to provide for a full complement of the 
Committee and alternates. 

 Mr. Derek Matthews-Noel was nominated by Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel, the nomination was 
seconded by Mr. Shaffayate Ali. 

 The nominees for the Credit Committee were Norman Arjoon, Michelle Badal, Inga Crichlow, 
Wesley Huggins, Lucy Ottley, Stephen Tang and Derek Matthews-Noel. 

 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Daniel Bisnath and seconded by Mrs. June 
Tang.

 Mr. Brent Zephyrine indicated that the application package for nominees under Candidates 
Eligibility states that a candidate must not be a relative of a serving Officer, therefore Mr. Derek 
Matthews-Noel could not be nominated. It was noted that Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel was 
facing the electorate and as such the election could proceed.

 The nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership.

22.4 The nominees for the Board of Directors were Kenneth Allum, Leonard Chan Chow, Keah Adela 
Clarke, Ian-Michael Haynes, Kenneth Lennox Lewis, Sandra Matthews-Noel, Nicole Rachel 
Murrell and Nadine Pirtheesingh. There were no nominations from the floor.

 A motion to cease nominations was moved by Mr. Hercial Vitalis and seconded by Mr. Anthony 
Solomon.

 The nominees were invited to introduce themselves to the membership. 

 Mr. David Moe read correspondence from Mr. Leonard Chan Chow expressing his willingness 
to serve on the Board of Directors. Mr. Chan Chow was out of the jurisdiction at the time of the 
meeting due to a prior commitment.

 Voting was declared closed at 7:57 p.m. and ballots taken to be counted.

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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23. Correspondence

There was no correspondence.

24. Presentation of Awards

Member of the Year 

Ms. Rona Huggins, who has been a member for 
fifty-five (55) years, was named “Member of the 
Year”. Ms. Huggins retired as a Loan Officer from 
TECU in 1998 after having served for forty (40) 
years. The Chairman made a presentation to Ms. 
Rona Huggins.

Door Prizes

1st Prize - seven hundred and fifty dollars ($750.
OO) in TECU shares and a hamper was won by 
Ms. Cherry Ann Edwards.

2nd Prize - five hundred and fifty dollars ($550.00) in TECU shares and a hamper was won by Mr. 
Harold Byragee.

3rd Prize - three hundred and fifty dollars ($350.00) in TECU shares and a hamper was won by Ms. 
Karishma Ragoonansingh.

25. General Business

25.1 Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel read correspondence from the Commissioner for Co-operative 
Development (“the Commissioner”) re: Joint Holdings. Members were advised that following 
the amendment of the Bye-Laws in December 2015, the Executive Committee met with 
the Commissioner on September 26, 2016 in an attempt to explore options to mitigate 
the joint partner arrangement. Subsequently, a letter was sent requesting amendments 
to Bye-Law No. 52. A response was received on February 9, 2017 supporting two (2) of the 
five (5) recommendations. The Commissioner also requested the negative impacts of the 
discontinuance of the joint partner arrangement. The Commissioner recognised that the 
Act was outdated and required updating. The Legislative Committee was spearheading the 
proposed amendments to the Co-operative Societies Act. A Special General Meeting will be 
convened to approve the amendments to the Bye-Laws to provide for two (2) members to 
hold a joint share account. Updates will be provided in upcoming newsletters.

25.2 Mrs. Tracy Ramsden-Boyce queried page 84 – TECU Coral Reef Guesthouse (net) - security cost 
of $300,447 and page 85 – Administration and other expenses – security cost of $111,554 
and enquired why TECU Coral Reef’s security cost was so much higher than other areas. The 
General Manager advised that the TECU Coral Reef cost is actual, being additional security on 
site as construction work was being conducted. Administration and other expenses cost is an 
allocation of the total security costs for all offices.

25.3 Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack highlighted that there was an increase in members’ shares, but 
members’ deposits and loans to members were somewhat stagnant. In past years these were 
closer and provided for a higher dividend. TECU needed to diversify investments into higher 
earning markets to possibly pay higher dividends, and delinquency also needed to be better 

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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managed. She also enquired on what could be done with the investment portfolio to ensure 
payment of a constant dividend.

 The Honorary Treasurer advised that Note 20 provided a breakdown of all Members’ deposits. 
Finding investments which are in excess of 5% was very challenging at this time, so short-term 
possibilities were being explored. TECU was exploring the possibility of extending the term 
of fixed deposits to more than one (1) year to all members and not just retirees. Interest rates 
would also be reviewed to encourage borrowing.

25.4 Ms. Corrine Tang expressed concern with the insurance rates of $3.75 per thousand on 
properties mortgaged with TECU whilst other companies offered $2.85 per thousand. Ms. 
Tang requested a review be conducted to reduce the burden to the membership.

25.5 The Chairman invited members to offer ideas on what they would like to see in Mayaro. Mrs. 
Cheryl Richards-Scott indicated that six (6) condominiums comprising two (2) and three (3) 
bedroom can be constructed for rental with an open hacienda for daily rental. Additionally, 
a designated area could be created with a bar-b-que pit. Consideration could also be given 
to providing linens to offer a different level of service. Daily rentals could also be offered. Mrs. 
Sheriba Ali-Rajack endorsed Mrs. Richards-Scott’s recommendation and highlighted the need 
for security. 

26. Results of Elections

The votes for the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Ms. Dianne Lochan - 356
Ms. Tabitha Thomas - 343
Mr. Anthony Solomon - 342
Mr. Hercial Vitalis - 310
Mr. Stephen Ramsden - 254
Ms. Alisha Ramdeen - 236
Mr. Daniel Bisnath - 166

The following members were elected to the Supervisory Committee:

Ms. Dianne Lochan - 356
Ms. Tabitha Thomas - 343
Mr. Anthony Solomon - 342
Mr. Hercial Vitalis - 310
Mr. Stephen Ramsden - 254
Ms. Alisha Ramdeen - 236 
  (First Alternate)
Mr. Daniel Bisnath - 166
   (Second Alternate)

The votes for the Credit Committee were as follows:

Mr. Stephen Tang - 369
Mrs. Inga Crichlow - 341
Ms. Lucy Ottley - 335

MINUTES OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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Ms. Michelle Badal - 313
Mr. Norman Arjoon - 286
Mr. Wesley Huggins - 260
Mr. Derek Matthews-Noel - 85

The following members were elected to the Credit Committee:

Mr. Stephen Tang - 369
Ms. Inga Crichlow - 341
Ms. Lucy Ottley - 335
Ms. Michelle Badal - 313
Mr. Norman Arjoon - 286
Mr. Wesley Huggins - 260
  (First Alternate)
Mr. Derek Matthews-Noel - 85
  (Second Alternate)

The votes for the Board of Directors were as follows:

Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel  - 305
Mr. Kenneth Allum - 279
Mr. Ian-Michael Haynes - 267
Mr. Leonard Chan Chow - 207
Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis - 169
Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh - 159

The following members were elected to the Board of Directors:

Mrs. Sandra Matthews-Noel  - 305
Mr. Kenneth Allum - 279
Mr. Ian-Michael Haynes - 267
Mr. Leonard Chan Chow - 207
Mr. Kenneth Lennox Lewis - 169
  (First Alternate)
Mrs. Nadine Pirtheesingh - 159
  (Second Alternate)

A motion for destruction of the ballots and deletion of the electronic ballots was moved by Mr. 
Daniel Bisnath and seconded by Mr. Cecil Lewis. All were in favour of the motion.

The Chairman thanked the Presiding Officers and ROSE IT Services Limited for their service.

Congratulations were extended to the newly elected Officers for the 2017/2018 term.

27. Vote of Thanks

Mr. Kent Byer offered the vote of thanks on behalf of the Board of Directors.

The Annual General Meeting concluded at 8:43 p.m.
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Report of the Directors

Your Board of Directors (“Board”) takes pleasure in submitting this report on its stewardship for the fiscal 
period under review January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017. The following members comprised the Board:

Ronald F. Jones  President
Kenneth Allum Vice President
Mitra Attai Honorary Treasurer
Sandra Matthews-Noel Honorary Secretary
Joyann Ali-Jahoor Member
Kent Byer Member 
Leonard Chan Chow Member
Ian-Michael Haynes Member
André Hosein Member
Jason Matthews Member
Gemma Warner Member
Brent Zephyrine  Member

Famed English philosopher Francis Bacon once wrote “time is the measure of a business” and after 71 years 
of continued growth and an undying commitment to service, TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society 
Limited (TECU) is pleased to report another successful year of attending to the financial needs of its valued 
membership. With the total membership numbering 42,450 (an increase of 2% as at December 31, 2017), 
TECU’s unwavering value proposition of improving the quality of life for those we serve in addition to 
the communities in which it operates, remains the Credit Union’s primary objective. Throughout TECU’s 
history - through economic cycles, financial crises, marketplace evolution, legislation and regulation, 
technological developments, aggressive competition and shifting consumer behavior - TECU has not only 
survived, but also thrived, and continues to compete and perform at the highest levels. 

One of the key drivers of TECU’s success is the member-focused mission that governs decision making. One 
constant over the years has been the Credit Union’s commitment to, and success in, providing members 
with superior financial value, in the form of exceptional returns, market-leading loan rates and the absence 
of fees. The Board has strenuously advocated for the judicious investment in services and systems that 
improve member value and service. 

Most businesses typically progress through a life-cycle of birth, growth, maturity and decline followed 
by revival or death. TECU has avoided this seemingly inevitable aging process by adapting to changing 
conditions while always remaining true to its fundamental vision, mission and core values. The Credit 
Union has effectively changed with the times while staying steadfast to its moorings. 

Notwithstanding TECU’s faithfulness to its underlying principles, the Board has actively sought to remain 
focused on employing a governance model that relentlessly insulates the Credit Union from a very diverse 
and insidious risk matrix. While seeking to maintain a strategy that promotes access to wealth creation 
prospects, an alignment to our communities and current economic realities and the agility to quickly 
respond to emerging opportunities and threats, the Board has implemented mechanisms to both identify 
and suppress the eight (8) major risks that currently challenge the Credit Union Movement. The key to its 
governance model is therefore the skillful management of these risks:
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1) Credit Risk – the risk of loan delinquency

2) Interest Rate Risk – the mismatch of the credit union’s assets vs. liabilities

3) Liquidity Risk – the unavailability of liquid assets to satisfy cash withdrawals

4) Transaction Risk – losses due to theft, weak processes/controls, poor ICT

5) Cyber Risk – losses from cyber-attacks/terrorists (Ransomware, etc.)

6) Strategic Risk – loss due to bad decisions, non-response to industry change 

7) Reputation Risk – losses due to integrity issues

8) Compliance Risk – non adherence to industry regulations, etc.

From a governance perspective the mitigants employed to insulate TECU against these types of risks to 
minimise or negate financial losses are:

==> Using appropriate monitoring and reporting mechanisms to ensure the Board is informed on a 
timely basis

==> Board and Management must work together on strategic vision and planning

==> Communication with regulators

==> Setting appropriate policies 

==> Ensuring transparency and accountability at all levels

TECH-U E-Services (Internet and Mobile Access)
The relationship between financial institutions and consumers is rapidly changing, with interactions 
increasingly occurring on mobile devices, in real time, with contextual benefits. Based on statistics from 
the world-renowned research company, Gartner Inc. global sales of smartphones to end users totaled 
1.5 billion in 2017. According to a B2X global survey, 25% of millennials (18 – 35 years) spend more than 
5 hours a day on their smartphone, while baby boomers (54 – 72 years) spend at least 3 hours. These are 
major consumer demographics and all service providers would be vying for a greater wallet share. 

As most credit unions strive to satisfy their members’ needs via all available delivery channels, the 
importance of understanding consumer trends, technology advancements and competitive changes 
in mobile banking and mobile payments is the foundation for making the right strategic and tactical 
decisions for the future.

TECU officially began offering Internet and Mobile Services to its members on October 16, 2017 and 
ended the year with approximately 1,355 members fully utilising the facility. The services comprised 
all transactions that could typically be performed at the Teller (i.e. withdrawals, funds transfer, external 
transfers to other financial institutions via the Automatic Clearing House channel, loan payments, account 
balance enquiries, online statements, etc.). 
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Growth Strategies
Over the past financial year, TECU’s Board and Management have been actively engaged in sifting through 
the myriad of macro-economic challenges that characterise the existing financial landscape to leverage on 
prospects for growth. In 2017, the economy continued to contract, labour market conditions deteriorated, 
foreign exchange reserves declined, consumer demand for loans remained flat and the country’s credit 
rating did not inspire direct foreign investment. 

The foundation of the Credit Union’s growth strategy hinged on identifying the appropriate growth mix. 
The following table highlights the key components:

Organic Growth Inorganic Growth Initiatives
Internet and Mobile Services Rethink Current Organisational Structure

New Products Build Trust and Organisational Service Culture
New Distribution Channels Increase Efficiencies via Streamlined Processes

Dynamic Sales Culture Leverage Data Analytics to improve the Member 
ExperienceState of the Art Technology

Strategic Goals and Initiatives
TECU’s operational focus remains firmly on the Strategic Plan’s Pillars of Governance, Member Focus, 
Growth and Human Capital Development. In 2017, the Credit Union’s total investment in the core areas 
of infrastructure to better serve the membership, (comprising the development of its branches, resorts, 
and ICT) amounted to approximately $8 million or 13% of total expenditure. Investment in training and 
development for staff and Officers amounted to $1.4 million or 2.4% of total expenditure. Continued focus 
on these elements must feature prominently in the Credit Union’s planning process in order to achieve its 
stated objectives. Another aspect that engages attention is the leveraging and enhancing of relationships 
with TECU’s affiliates. These connections will play an important part in deepening the financial ties with 
the membership, while at the same time providing an alliance to mitigate credit risk. 

In the area of Youth Development, TECU expended $589,000.00 in initiatives that were geared towards 
developmental activities that would inspire creativity, harness potential, provide physical support and 
bring comfort to the youth of the nation. The contributions were made to schools, community and national 
youth organisations and three TECU hosted events (i.e. S.E.A. and Tertiary Bursaries, School Quiz and TECU 
Internship Program). The Credit Union remains committed to the continued investment in legitimate and 
worthwhile activities that promote the development and protection of our future. 

In 2017 key performance targets were surpassed notwithstanding the competitive environment. Assets 
grew to approximately $2.04 billion and the Credit Union recorded a Net Surplus, on core business, of 
$54 million (a marginal 2% decrease year over year) while growing Members’ shares to $1.54 billion (a 3% 
increase amounting to $42.9 million) and the loan base to $728.4 million (a 4% increase totaling $28.9 
million). 

Elevating the caliber and professionalism of TECU’s human resources was a key strategy premise 
as enshrined in Goal 2 (Be a Preferred Employer) and Goal 3 (Develop a High Performance Culture) of 
the current Strategic Plan. The Credit Union has made progress, after conducting a comprehensive 
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Organisational Human Resource Audit, in revising its Organisational Structure and filling key positions in 
the Finance, Compliance, Audit and Information Communication and Technology departments. 

Economic Review
In 2017, the economic environment in Trinidad and Tobago was sluggish. After two years of negative Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) growth however, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasted that GDP in 
Trinidad and Tobago would grow by 0.3% in 2017 and then by 3.4% in 2018. This forecasted growth by 
the IMF is mainly predicated on the expectation of improvements in energy prices as well as improved 
production in the energy sector. The IMF also suggested that Trinidad and Tobago review its managed 
exchange rate policy and allow the TT$ exchange rate to be more aligned with the market. 

In the 2017-2018 fiscal year budget, the Minister of Finance utilised fiscal policy instruments to tackle 
the economic challenges. In his presentation, he articulated various measures aimed at decreasing 
government expenditure and increasing government income:

==> The removal of the fuel subsidies causing a decrease in government expenditure on the prices of 
Diesel and Super

==> To divest itself from CL Financial assets

==> The further investment in Compressed Natural Gas as an alternative fuel supply for private and 
public vehicles 

A royalty of 12.5% was charged across the board on extraction of all gas, condensate and oil. A tax of 10% 
would also be deducted on all cash winnings of NLCB. Commercial Banks were placed in a new tax bracket 
where they will now have to pay a rate of 35%. While the intended effect of these measures are to reduce 
the deficit, there is an opposing view that the contrary may occur, as popular economic theory proffers 
that increasing taxes and reducing expenditure may dampen growth.

Financial Year in Review
At the end of a challenging fiscal period due to rising unemployment, inflationary pressure, negative 
economic growth and lower consumer credit demand, TECU’s 2017 year-end financial performance 
demonstrated all stakeholders’ determined resolve to achieve reasonable growth in spite of the economic 
hardships. Taking cognizance of the Asset growth, top line Revenue, Net Surplus and Members’ Shares, 
all targets were either exceeded or met. Total Expenses were well maintained with the notable exception 
of an increase in Administrative Expenses, (due substantively to an increase in the Loan Loss Provision 
Expense of $3.4 million) and the CUNA premiums for members Life Savings and Loan Protection. 

The membership continued to demonstrate its confidence in TECU and this was reflected in the 3% ($42.9 
million) growth in Members’ shares. Total assets grew by $49.1 million (2% growth year on year) to over 
$2 billion at the end of 2017. This was driven largely by a robust investment portfolio and 4% growth in 
the loan portfolio ($28.9 million). Net Income from core operating activities stood at $112.7 million, an 
increase of 11% year on year ($11.2 million). The Loan Loss Provision Expense for 2017 was $3.4 million 
which brought the total Loan Loss Provision to $23.2 million. For 2016 and 2017 the loan portfolio grew 
by a total of $96.1 million (a 15% upturn) but no increase in the provision was made to accommodate for 
potential delinquency. With the addition to the Provision for Loan Loss in 2017, the Provision now stands 
at 3.2% ($23.2 million) of the total loan portfolio, whereas in 2016 the provision stood at 4.3% ($30 million) 
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of the total loan balance. 

The following table compares TECU’s performance for 2016 and 2017:

  2017 2016 Changes 2017 - 2016
  TT$M TT$M TT$M % Change
Assets 2,038.8 1,989.7 49.1 2
Liabilities 1,816.6 1,779.8 36.8 2
Members’ Shares 1,534.5 1,491.6 42.9 3
Loans to Members 728.4 699.5 28.9 4
Investments 1,113 1,038.7 74.3 7
Loans Granted 287.5 331 (43.5) (13)
Revenue 112.6 136.1 (23.5) (17)
Expenses 58.6 58.6 Nil Nil
Net Surplus (Core Business) 54 55.4 (1.4) 2
Membership 42,450 41,582 868 2

 

Growth in Assets

Assets increased by $49.1 million (2%) from $1.99 billion in 
2016 to $2.04 billion in 2017, due primarily to an increase 
in the Investment and Lending portfolios. Despite modest 
returns on investments and reduced borrowing appetites, 
TECU was able to adopt a prudent investment strategy that 
increased the weighted average return on investments 
while still achieving 96% of the target for new loans. 

Loan Balances

Loans to Members grew by $28.9 million (4%) to $728.4 
million, with Mortgages accounting for 5% of this growth, 
while Character Loans was the other major contributor 
with a 3% increase. Mortgages increased by $11 million 
while the growth in Character Loans accounted for a $10 
million improvement in the loan portfolio. 
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Growth in Investments

TECU’s Investment Portfolio increased by 7% ($74.3 
million) year on year. There was a 41% decrease in Cash 
and Cash Equivalents ($65 million) and a concomitant 
increase in investments in equity and long-term bonds.

Growth in Members’ Shares

Members’ shares increased by 3% growth ($42.9M) in 
2017 and is testimony to the continued confidence that 
the membership has in TECU. The Credit Union’s value 
proposition of providing premium service through 
wealth creation and enhancing the quality of our 
members’ lives remains the major impetus for the Board, 
Officers, Management and Staff.

Revenue

Total Revenue decreased 17% ($23.5 million) year on 
year. The decrease was due to the extraordinary gain 
in 2016 of $22.1 million which represented the final 
tranche of the CLICO investment. Net Income from core 
operating activities however stood at $112.6 million, an 
increase of 11% year on year ($11.1 million). 

Interest Income

There was a 12% increase in Interest Income from 
loans (amounting to $7.5 million) and a 7% increase in 
Investment Income (approximately $3 million) in 2017 
when compared to the previous period. 
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Expenses

Cost control remains a primary focus of attention for the 
Board and Management and with the notable exception of 
an increase in Administative Expenses, (due substantively to 
an increase in the Loan Loss Provision Expense of $3.4 
million) and the CUNA premiums for members Life Savings 
and Loan Protection; all other expenses were either reduced 
or incurred marginal increases.

Growth in Membership 

TECU’s membership grew to 42,450 (2% increase) in 
2017 and validates the strategy of inclusion and diversity 
to reach outside of the original geographic and energy 
sector bonds to encourage a more diverse membership. 
TECU’s Business Development team has traversed the 
length and breadth of the country to target members 
of varied ages and socio-economic backgrounds 
to properly segment the membership base so as to 
insulate against any financial or sector shocks.
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DELINQUENCY
TECU’s Credit Management team continued to demonstrate diligence and persistence in its collection 
activities and also in working with members who have been experiencing challenges in loan repayment. 
The delinquency figure as at December 31, 2017 was 4.75% and totaled $35.9 million (in 2016 the 
delinquency rate was 4.98% totaling $36.5 million). 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Expanded Member Services and Delivery Channels – There has been a noted demand for TECU’s products 
and services, spearheaded by the Credit Union’s social media presence and the Business Development 
Department. As a national brand, TECU must transcend the current boundaries of its immediate catchment 
area to seek out new business opportunities and also strategically reach out to the financially underserved 
to achieve its mandate, “Not for Profit, Not for Charity, But for Service”. To this end, the Board approved the 
purchase of a fully operational mobile caravan which will allow TECU to offer services to the existing and 
potential membership. The unit itself will also provide TECU with a significant platform to showcase its 
products and services by acting as a moving billboard. In this regard, TECU continues to be a pioneer in 
the Credit Union Movement. 

Information and Communications Technology –TECU’s Internet and Mobile Services facility will be further 
enhanced during the upcoming year with offerings such as Bill Pay options and Electronic Statements 
becoming a reality. The target of 10% of membership sign up is forecasted in 2018 and further service 
automation and Data Analytics will be explored to enhance the member experience and afford greater 
efficiency, more convenience and lower cost to our valued members. 

Property Development – 

Mayaro Beach Resort - Management will explore all options for development of the 44,207 sq. ft. of land 
and seek stakeholder engagement to optimise the usage of the Mayaro lands as a Beach Resort and offer 
the membership a viable ‘staycation’ opportunity on the east coast. 

Chaguanas Land Development - Phase 1 of the Soogrim Trace South, Chaguanas Project (also known as 
Egypt Trace) comprising 55 residential lots was completed in 2017 and the process of the sale of lots to 
the membership commenced during the last quarter of 2017. Ten (10) Sale Agreements are being finalised 
for the first wave of purchasers in Phase 1 and the final plans for Phase 2 (comprising 29 lots) will be 
completed by the third quarter of 2018 with proposed distribution occurring by year-end. Application 
packages for the purchase of the lots in Phase 1 are still available at all TECU branches. 

TECU Coral Reef – Substantive refurbishment works were completed at TECU Coral Reef in 2017. These 
included the walkways, additional security measures and the automation of the booking process. These 
enhancements will further improve the efficiency of the guesthouse, the Guest experience and increase 
the members returns. 

New Point Fortin Branch - After 12 years of occupying modest accommodations in Pt Fortin, TECU is set to 
relocate to more comfortable surroundings in the Borough. Final arrangements are being made to acquire 
a suitable property in a location that will afford ease of doing business, adequate parking and comfort, 
safety and accessibility. 
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Branch Layout Modifications – Refurbishment of the Loans and Credit Management Departments in 
Marabella will be undertaken in 2018 to afford members a more comfortable experience, afford greater 
efficiency and an improvement in the ‘throughput’ time for loan processing. The internal layout of the 
Couva Branch, will also receive a much needed makeover to afford better space utilisation for the safety 
and comfort of our members. The intended redesign will also increase efficiencies and the member-centric 
workflows will ensure better service. 

Strategic Plan 2018 – 2022
The 2018 – 2022 Strategic Planning process began in earnest during the second quarter of 2017 and 
involved an in-depth analysis of the current realities and potential occurrences that may affect the 
country, the financial services sector and in particular TECU in the future. After a process that considered 
all external factors (political, economic, social, technical, legal and environmental) that could impact on 
the Credit Union and several sessions that garnered stakeholder input, the following strategic priorities 
were identified: 

• Establishing strategic relationships with key stakeholders to improve TECU’s products and services 
and member satisfaction scores in order to attract new members. Dedicated focus will be placed on 
increasing the membership in the crucial demographic of the millennial market, while employing value-
adding retention strategies to cater for the Credit Union’s existing base. 

• Partnering with critical state agencies to advance the Co-operative Credit Union Movement

• Collaborating with other progressive credit unions and state agencies in pooling resources for stimulating 
Small and Micro Enterprise and entrepreneurial development

• Changing legal and regulatory framework for governing the Co-operative and Credit Union Sector and 
its impact on TECU’s governance system

• Pursuing new business opportunities aligned to the current Co-operative Legislation

• Achieving and maintaining sustainability and growth

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK for 2018
Domestic economic activity should improve somewhat in 2018. Natural gas supplies will be helped by 
key energy sector projects such as EOG’s Sercan and bpTT’s Trinidad Onshore Compression (TROC) which 
came on-stream in 2017. Additionally, the sector will receive a significant boost from bpTT’s Juniper project 
which commenced operations in the third quarter of 2017. The improvement in the energy sector will 
result in some spillover effects into the non-energy sector. In light of the subdued nature of the economy, 
inflation should remain relatively contained for the remainder of the year. Energy commodity prices are 
unlikely to return to pre-2014 levels, but are expected to remain relatively stable in the short to medium 
term, aided mainly by geopolitical factors and OPEC’s decision to extend output cuts. 

According to the first issue of the 2018 Central Bank Economic Bulletin, data for the last quarter of 2017 
reflected sluggish activity in the non-energy sector, in particular, the distribution and construction 
sectors. Sales of new motor vehicles, (an indicator of activity in the distribution sector), declined by 14.6% 
as the sales of both private (17.1%) and commercial vehicles (9.3%) declined over October to November 
2017 (year on year). Additionally, local sales of cement contracted by 6.9% in the period (year on year), 
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suggesting weak construction activity.

Data on labour market developments show that retrenchments eased following the first quarter of 2017. 
Retrenchment notices filed with the Ministry of Labour and Small Enterprise Development indicate that 
during 2017, 1,106 persons were retrenched, compared with 1,315 persons in the same period of 2016. 
Retrenchments spanned several sectors, including the petroleum and gas (285 persons), manufacturing 
(257 persons), and finance, insurance, real estate and business services (214 persons). 

The growth of consumer credit by the consolidated system strengthened marginally in December 2017. 
Lending to consumers increased by 5.1% in December 2017 compared with 4.1% in July 2017. Data within 
the consumer credit sector showed loans for consolidation of debt (16%) rose strongly, which may be 
indicative of some borrowers rationalising their loan obligations to possibly take advantage of a lower 
overall interest rate. Lending to consumers for the purchase of motor vehicles slowed (3%) in the last 
quarter of 2017, the eighth consecutive quarterly decline. Lending for home improvement and renovation 
was also subdued (1.8%). Despite the economic slowdown, the growth of real estate mortgage lending 
remained buoyant over the six-month period to December 2017, perhaps helped by lower interest rates 
on mortgages. Residential real estate loans showed accelerations in the growth of lending for existing 
houses (9.1%), new houses (7.5%) and renovation (4.6%). Despite the increase in mortgage lending, the 
median house price eased to $1.2 million in September 2017, compared with $1.4 million in June 2017.

Based on the above outlook, TECU will continue to focus on:

• Improving members’ service experience when accessing the services and products.

• Increasing service delivery channels to provide members with more opportunities to interact with the 
Credit Union 

• Increasing/Diversifying TECU’s product offerings and services (within the legislative remit) to cater for all 
members’ needs

• Remaining competitively priced on loans while maintaining a policy of not charging onerous fees and 
commissions. 

• Engaging in opportunities to offer members a better return on their investments.

• Employing long-term strategies to further strengthen TECU’s institutional capital. 

Attendance Record
The Board of Directors held twelve (12) Statutory Meetings and seven (7) Special Board Meetings. The 
table below indicates attendance at these 2017 meetings:

BOARD ATTENDANCE
Statutory Board Meetings Special Board Meetings

Name Present Absent Excused Present Absent Excused
Ronald F. Jones 12 0 0 7 0 0
Kenneth Allum 8 0 4 7 0 0
Mitra Attai 10 0 2 7 0 0
Sandra Matthews-Noel 10 0 2 7 0 0
Joyann Ali-Jahoor 9 0 3 5 0 2

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

BOARD ATTENDANCE
Statutory Board Meetings Special Board Meetings

Name Present Absent Excused Present Absent Excused
Kent Byer 11 0 1 5 0 2
Leonard Chan Chow1 6 0 2 2 0 2
Leroy Fermin2 3 0 1 3 0 0
Ian-Michael Haynes 12 0 0 6 0 1
André Hosein 10 0 2 7 0 0
Jason Matthews 11 0 1 6 0 1
Gemma Warner 12 0 0 5 0 2
Brent Zephyrine 11 0 1 6 0 1

1 Elected at the Annual General Meeting in 2017 
2 Statute Barred

Condolences
The Board extends heartfelt condolences to the families, relatives and friends of our dearly departed 
members and loved ones who would have departed during 2017. We hope that they rest in peace and 
that you continue to celebrate the love and joy of their memories.

Acknowledgments 
Your Board records its appreciation to you, our membership, for your loyal support during the year. Our 
success could not be possible without your commitment and confidence in this noble organisation.

To our members of staff, we acknowledge your dedication and commitment to the continued success of 
TECU. 

We must recognise our team of volunteers who comprise the Statutory Committees: the Credit and 
Supervisory Committees. Special salutations also go out to the Education Committee and all other Board 
appointed Committees. 

Sincere appreciation to the Commissioner for Co-operative Development and the staff of the Southern 
arm of the Division in particular for their support and good counsel during the last year and continued 
cordial relations in the future. 

The Board of Directors also wishes to acknowledge the support received from our fellow Co-operators, our 
Attorneys, Insurers and Affiliated Companies during 2017.
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The Supervisory Committee 2017/2018 
comprised of the following:

1. Anthony Solomon  – Chairman 
2. Dianne Lochan – Secretary 
3. Stephen Ramsden  – Officer
4. Tabitha Thomas  – Officer
5. Hercial Vitalis  – Officer

Report of the Supervisory Committee

In accordance with TECU’s Bye-Law #40, the 
Supervisory Committee met weekly to review the 
operations of the organisation. Forty (40) meetings 
were held by the Committee for this term.

For the 2017/2018 term the Supervisory Committee 
reviewed the following:

1) Delinquency 

The Supervisory Committee focused on 
delinquency as a priority due to the economic 
decline. The Credit and Collections reports 
were examined and based on a review of the 
delinquency report provided, additional loan 
files were reviewed for selected members. 
The Committee found that there was need 
for improvement in the processing of loan 
applications particularly regarding the Statement 
of Affairs and Debt Service Ratios. The Committee 
wishes to highlight the need for greater due 
diligence at all levels when reviewing/approving 
loan applications. 

Communication to members whose accounts 
were in arrears via SMS text messages and 
demand letters was not carried out consistently 
on a monthly basis. Overall the Supervisory 
Committee is of the view that a concerted effort is 
needed by the Credit and Collections Department 
in the performance of their duties.

Of note was the value of delinquent loans that were 
written off during the year. Upon enquiry as to 
whether or not approval from the Commissioner’s 
Office was required, the Committee was informed 
that this was not necessary. However, the 
Committee was advised that a resolution is to be 
put to the membership at AGM for approval.

2) Loans, Credit Application Compliance

For the period January to April 2017 a review 
of a random sample of sixty (60) members’ loan 
application files for the purchase of new or used 
vehicles was conducted. There were a number of 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.
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anomalies observed which was drawn to the 
attention of the Board and Management.

3) Credit Card Statements

Credit card statements for the months 
January to July 2017 were reviewed for all 
cardholders. There continues to be a delay 
in the timely settlement of these statements. 
The Committee made recommendations for a 
policy to improve the use and administration 
of credit cards. The Committee is awaiting the 
completion of this policy.

4) Board of Directors’ Minutes and General 
Manager’s Report

Board Minutes for the period January to 
August 2017 and the General Manager’s 
Report to the Board of Directors for November 
2017 were reviewed. The Committee raised 
concerns and made recommendations to the 
Board regarding some decisions. 

5) TECU’s Coral Reef Resort 

The Committee visited the Tobago Coral Reef 
Resort in November 2017. The Objective 
of the site visit was to inspect the facilities, 
assess the condition and operations and 
report on any noted improvements.

The Committee met with the Project Manager 
for a status update on the 2nd phase of the 
upgrade project and also conducted a site 
visit of the facility. There were a number of 
projects which were in progress at the Coral 
Reef Resort in order to improve the physical 
infrastructure and safety. The Supervisory 
Committee also met with the Resort Manager 
to obtain an update of the operations at Coral 
Reef.

The Committee recommends that a greater 
marketing drive be pursued to increase 
occupancy.

6) Provision of Information

The Supervisory Committee was challenged 
in receiving requested information on a timely 
basis from Management. The Committee’s 
Chairman and Secretary met with the 
Board’s Executive and after discussions it was 
agreed that requested information would be 
provided within ten (10) days. However, this 
timeframe was not adhered to in all instances, 
which resulted in the cancellation of some 
of our weekly meetings due to the non-
provision of information. The Supervisory 
Committee continues to express its concerns 
to the Board of Directors with respect to the 
need for improved communications between 
itself and Management. 

7) Attendance and Punctuality

A review of the time records for a number 
of employees was conducted and some 
discrepancies with the hours worked 
were realised. It was discovered that some 
employees were allowed to work flexible 
hours. However, there is no policy governing 
such work arrangements. The Committee 
raised concerns regarding the controls 
in place for monitoring hours worked by 
employees accessing this facility.

8) Cash Counts

Cash counts were conducted at the Point 
Fortin and Couva branches. Due to anomalies 
noted recommendations were made to 
ensure Cash Management processes across 
all branches follow a consistent procedure.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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9) Other matters

An interview was conducted with the General 
Manager on December 2017 in which the 
following matters were discussed:

• International Accounting Standards: The 
decision to continue with the cash basis 
accounting process in the preparation 
of the financial statements as opposed 
to the accruals method. This meant that 
the audited financial statements would 
be qualified for another year, as this is not 
in adherence with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

• TECU-U E-Service: The General Manager 
informed the SC that 1100 members have 
signed up as at the date of the interview.

• Automated Deposit Check: The need 
for an automated systems check for the 
identification of multiple deposits under 
the reporting threshold. The General 
Manager indicated that an automated 
check (module) in Flexcube is being 
tested.

• Procurement Unit: The General Manager 
stated that the performance of the Unit 
has been excellent. The Committee 
however raised concerns regarding the 
database of registered vendors as persons 
in the line have been recommending 
vendors for invitation to the Procurement 
Unit.

The Committee wishes to thank the Board of 
Directors, Management and staff of TECU for their 
support during this term of office. The officers of 
the Supervisory committee express our sincerest 
thanks and appreciation to the members of TECU 
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited. We 
are grateful for your confidence in our oversight 
role.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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1. Lucy Ottley  – Chairman
2. Inga Crichlow  – Secretary
3. Norman Arjoon
4. Michelle Badal
5. Stephen Tang

Report of the Credit Committee

Investment firm, First Citizens Investment 
Services (FCIS), in an article posted in the Trinidad 
Guardian Newspaper December 31, 2016 and 
written by Andre Worrell, noted that 2017 will 
be, “another challenging year with significant 
downside risks”. The article further stated that 
the country, “now faces a severe and protracted 
commodity price shock”.

It is against this background that the work of the 
Credit Committee was carried out during the 
period 2017 to 2018. As a result of the economic 
decline, there was a resultant contraction in loan 
demand. 

As customary, the committee met once weekly to 
review all loan applications presented to them. 
For the period of reporting, 44 meetings were 
held.

Loan Applications Reviewed 1430 

Loans Approved 1271

Value of Approved Loans $111,521,102.92

Loans Declined 159

Value of Declined Loans $6,874,672.57

11% 
Loans Declined

89% 
Loans Approved

Your credit union is committed to providing for 
the financial needs of our members insofar as it 
is possible. With this in mind, new and innovative 
products were introduced. Notwithstanding the 
introduction of these products, records indicate 
that for some members, “financial handcuffs” have 
attached themselves to their standard of living. 
This resulted in requests for share/loan transfers 
and reduction in instalments. Such requests 
which were submitted for consideration, were 

1.

2.

4.

3.

5.
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evaluated and appropriate approvals granted 
along with financial counselling and guidance 
where necessary. 

The Credit Committee wishes to further encour-
age members to have constructive dialogue with 
your credit union through our Loans Officers, 
so that meaningful corrective measures may be 
applied in each unique case. However, members 
are reminded that loans should be solely for 
provident or productive purposes. 

Loan Products Disbursed

The Committee randomly selected and reviewed 
loan accounts at our three (3) offices in Marabella, 
Couva and Point Fortin. Loans disbursed were 
found to be within the parameters outlined for 
Loan Officers.

REPORT OF THE CREDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Credit Committee wishes to acknowledge 
the invaluable contributions of members of staff 
from the loan department at some of our weekly 
meetings.

Thanks to you, our members, for the confidence 
placed in us. We say thank you, to the Board of 
Directors, Management and Staff for the co-
operation and assistance extended.
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Report of the Education Committee

1.

3.

5.

7.

9.

10.

12.

11.

13.

The following persons served on the Education 
Committee for the period under review:

1. Ian-Michael Haynes Chairman
2. Kenneth Lewis Vice Chairman
3. Nadine Pirtheesingh Secretary
4. Alisha Ramdeen Assistant Secretary
5. Jennie Alleyne
6. Pamela Dass
7. Keisha Francis
8. Simon Gowrie
9. Joy Jarvis
10. Daniel Lewis
11. Jacqueline Newton
12. Tracy Ramsden-Boyce
13. Brent Zephyrine

In keeping with its mandate the Committee 
prepared its Calendar of Events for the year. 
Monthly meetings were held to discuss and plan 
the scheduled activities. 

2.

4.

6.

8.
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REPORT OF THE EDUCATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Four (4) issues of TECU News were published for 
the year. These Newsletters kept the members 
informed of the activities and products and 
services of the Credit Union. Articles included 
money matters, health, etiquette, and general 
credit union business.

Two (2) Induction Sessions were held during the 
year. In May 2017, the first session was held in 
Point Fortin and the second was held at the John 
C. Gomes Auditorium, TECU House, Marabella in 
September. At the sessions, new members were 
informed of the services, features and activities of 
the Credit Union and also educated them on the 
benefits of membership. 

Mr. Simon Gowrie, formed part of the TECU 
delegation who attended the Caribbean 
Conference of Credit Unions in Cuba in May 2017. 
The Conference was described as informative and 
delegates were exposed to up-to-date trends in 
credit unionism in the Caribbean.

In September, students and their parents attended 
the Bursary Awards Function for successful S.E.A. 
and Tertiary Level students at the Petrotrin Sports 
Club, Pointe-a-Pierre. A total of one hundred and 
four (104) awards were distributed. The feature 
speaker was Ms. Teocah Dove, whose voluntary 
work with young people was recognised by the 
Queen of England. 

The Annual Primary School Quiz was conducted 
in October during credit union week. The quiz 
tested the participants’ knowledge on the Credit 
Union movement and TECU’s history. The San 
Fernando TML Primary School won the first prize 
followed by San Fernando Girls’ Primary and 
Penal Presbyterian Primary School in that order. 
Participating students were awarded cash prizes, 
trophies and tokens. This competition is a means 
of educating the students about the Credit Union 
Movement and its philosophy, both locally and 
internationally. 

A successful Annual Children’s Christmas Party 
was held on November 25, 2017 at the TECU 
Marabella compound. More than one hundred 
and twenty (120) children were in attendance. 
The event provided a fun-filled afternoon of 
games, food, face-painting, bouncy castle, magic 
and gifts.

The Education Committee wishes to express 
its sincere appreciation to the Members, 
Board of Directors, other Committees and the 
Administrative Staff for their unstinting support 
throughout the past year. We look forward to the 
continued support as we pursue our mandate of 
keeping members educated, empowered and 
informed.
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A. Appointment of Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee (NC) of TECU 
Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited 
(TECU) was appointed by the Board of 
Directors on June 9, 2017. The primary 
responsibility of the NC is to create a ballot 
with suitable Nominees for election at the 
Annual General Meeting (AGM).

B.  Duty of the Nominating Committee

Clause 50 of the Bye-Laws of TECU states that 
the duty of the NC “shall be the screening and 
selection of Nominees, in accordance with the 
criteria set by the Board, to be considered for 
election to the Board, Credit and Supervisory 
Committees”. These Nominees will be 
considered at the AGM to fill the following 
vacant positions:

	 Board of Directors – four (4) positions

	 Credit Committee – five (5) positions

	 Supervisory Committee – five (5) 
positions

C.  Composition of the Nominating Committee

The Committee comprised the following 
members:

Mr. Leonard Chan Chow - Convenor

Mrs. Sheriba Ali-Rajack 

Mr. Robert J. Andrews

Ms. Denise Julien-Stoute

Mr. Neal Ramasra 

D.  Nomination and Selection Process

The nomination process started with the 
publication of a Nomination Notice for the 
period November 11 to December 3, 2017, 
at media houses, daily newspapers, TECU’s 
offices and website. Application Packages 
were to be submitted by December 15, 2017. 
Eighteen (18) Application Packages were 
received.

At the eligibility stage, Candidates’ Application 
Packages were opened and screened for 
completeness, in line with guidelines outlined 
in the Application Package, and based on the 
set criteria. 

All Applications were considered eligible for 
the next stage of the Nomination Process. 

The interview and assessment stage included 
panel interviews, followed by an assessment 
of suitability for office, which took into 
consideration the outcome of the interview 
and the content of the Application Package. 
The interview panel consisted of the members 
of the NC. At the conclusion of this stage, all 
Candidates were approved to be included 
on the ballot as Nominees. The NC, having 
completed the Nomination and Selection 
Process, hereby recommends for election at 
the 2018 AGM, the following Nominees:

a) Board of Directors

1. Orville Andrews
2. Charlene Charles
3. Andrew Fifi
4. Petel Jones
5. Kenneth Lewis
6. Ilitty Mollino

Report of the Nominating Committee
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b) Credit Committee

1. Norman Arjoon*

2. Michelle Badal*

3. Mervyn Baptiste 
4. Inga Crichlow*

5. Wesley Huggins+

 c)  Supervisory Committee

1. Nesta De Landro
2. Learie Phillip
3. Remington Redhead
4. Julius Taylor
5. Hercial Vitalis*

The following notes are germane to the 
election process, and relevant to the 
nomination and election of members for 
office at TECU’s AGM:

a. * denotes outgoing Officers seeking re-
election;

b. + denotes having served as an Alternate;

c. Consistent with Clauses 15 (vi) and 39 (i) 
and (iv) of the Bye-Laws and practice of 
TECU, a minimum of two (2) additional 
Nominees are required to satisfy 
alternates for the Supervisory Committee.

d. In spite of the recommendations of the 
NC, any financial member at the AGM has 
the right to nominate other members 
from the floor to the Board, Credit and 
Supervisory Committees, in accordance 
with Clause 50 (d) of the Bye-Laws of 
TECU. Albeit, these Nominees would 
not have been subjected to the entire 
nomination and selection process and 
as such, the NC will not be in a position 
to validate their suitability for office and 
service as Officers of TECU.

E.  Conclusion

The NC wishes to convey its thanks to 
the Board of Directors for the privilege to 
serve the Credit Union on such an essential 
Committee. In recognition of the significance 
of the Nomination and Selection Process, the 
NC undertook diligently to fulfill its mandate 
by securing and recommending suitable 
Nominees for the vacant positions on TECU’s 
leadership Committees. 

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Orville R. Andrews
Has been a TECU member for twenty-nine (29) years. He retired from PETROTRIN 
as a Systems Administrator. He served as a TECU Director for four (4) years, a 
member of TECU’s Supervisory committee for five (5) years and Manager 
of TECU for a period of one (1) year. His expertise is in Procurement, Project 
Management and Quality Management. Mr. Andrews is also an active member 
of the PETROTRIN Sports Club and TECU’s Legislative Committee.

Charlene Charles
Has been a TECU member for six (6) months. She is employed with Caricom 
Impacs as an Administrative Assistant with over six (6) years’ experience. She 
possesses a Masters Degree in Business Administration with special emphasis 
on Executive Leadership, Strategy and Organizational Transformation. She is 
also a Life Coach and offers these skills to her community.

Andrew George Fifi
Has been a TECU member for forty (40) years. He retired from PETROTRIN as 
a Quality Assessor - Mechanical. He is a qualified Mechanical Engineer with 
experience in Quality Management.

Petel Jones 
Has been a TECU member for eleven (11) years. She is employed as a Senior 
Accountant with Reliability Maintenance Services Company Limited with over 
six (6) years’ experience. She also has experience in Business Management. Ms 
Jones is also a member of a Ministry of Community Development Board and 
she volunteers with the Hijets Sports Club.

Kenneth Lennox Lewis
Has been a TECU member for sixteen (16) years. He retired from PETROTRIN 
as Manager, Process and Chemical Engineering, and was also a part-time 
lecturer in Chemical Process Engineering at UTT. Mr Lewis has served on TECU’s 
Education Committee for seven (7) years. He is also involved in community 
work. His expertise is in Engineering, Community Development, and Education.

Ilitty Mollino
Has been a TECU member for thirteen (13) years. She is an Agency Manager 
at Pan American Life Insurance Company Limited with over fifteen (15) years’ 
experience. Her expertise is in Audit and Finance. Ms. Mollino is a volunteer 
with the Jah-Heart Foundation which provides financial assistance to children 
diagnosed with Cerebral Palsy. She is also a member of the Foreign Affairs 
Committee chaired by Senator the Honourable Dennis Moses.

Nominating Report - Candidate Profiles
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CREDIT COMMITTEE

Norman Arjoon
Has been a TECU member for forty-four (44) years. He retired from PETROTRIN 
as an Accountant. He has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for over sixteen 
(16) years. His expertise is in Accounting, Credit Management and Customer 
Relations Management. He is an active member of the Filipino Community 
Association of Trinidad and Tobago and Dance Sport Trinidad and Tobago.

Michelle Badal
Has been a TECU member for fifteen (15) years. She is employed as a 
Maintenance Supervisor at PETROTRIN with over nine (9) years’ experience. 
She has served on TECU’s Credit Committee for five (5) years. Her expertise is in 
Facilities and Property Management, and Credit Risk Assessment. She is also an 
active member of the Caribbean Cancer Research Initiative and the Missionary 
Ambassadors of Christ.

Mervyn Kirk Baptiste
Has been a TECU member for fifteen (15) years. He is employed as a Human 
Resources Manager at Prescod Security & Associates with over eight (8) years’ 
experience. His expertise is in Human Resource Management and Corporate 
Governance. Mr. Baptiste is also an active member of the St Vincent de Paul 
Society.

Inga Crichlow
Has been a TECU member for fifty-five (55) years. She retired from PETROTRIN 
as a Recruitment Officer. She served on TECU’s Education Committee for 
thirteen (13) years, the Supervisory Committee for three (3) years, and the 
Credit Committee for six (6) years. Her expertise is in Human Resource 
Management. Mrs. Crichlow is also an active member of the Orchid Society of 
Trinidad and Tobago.

Wesley Huggins
Has been a TECU member for thirty (30) years. He is a self-employed Driving 
Instructor for thirty-five (35) years. He has served on TECU’s Credit Committee 
for five (5) years and in the past served as a TECU Agent. His expertise is in 
Accounting. Mr. Huggins also enjoys planning bingos and children’s events.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Nesta De Landro
Has been a TECU member for five (5) years. Employed as a Programme 
Coordinator at Junior Achievement of Trinidad & Tobago with over ten (10) 
years’ experience. His expertise is in the Coaching of Youth in Financial Literacy 
and Entrepreneurship.

Learie Edwin Phillip
Has been a TECU member for seventeen (17) years. He is employed as a 
Purchasing Supervisor at PETROTRIN with over four (4) years’ experience. He also 
lectures in Quantitative Methods for various research programs. His expertise is 
in Supply Chain Management. Mr. Phillip is also an active member of the Oilfield 
Workers Trade Union and the Vessigny Secondary School Alumini Association.

Remington Redhead
Has been a TECU member for four (4) years. He is employed as an Account 
Executive at Redhead’s Pensurance Services Limited with over four (4) years’ 
experience. His expertise is in Environmental and Natural Resource Management, 
Accounting and Events Management. Mr. Redhead is also an active member 
of the St. Stephens Anglican Parish Youth Group and the International Karate 
Daigaku.

Julius Taylor 
Has been a TECU member for fifteen (15) years. He is employed as a Tug & Barge 
Engineer at PETROTRIN with over five (5) years’ experience. His expertise is in 
Marine Operations and Business Management.

Hercial Vitalis
Has been a TECU member for eighteen (18) years. He retired as an Educator after 
thirty-four (34) years. He has served on TECU’s Supervisory Committee for five 
(5) years. His expertise is in Agriculture, Business and Finance. Mr. Vitalis is also an 
active member of the Chaguanas Parish Community.
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Statement of Management Responsibilities
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To the Members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit 
Union”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section 
of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Credit Union as at December 31, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

The Credit Union’s accounting policy for recognising loan interest revenue is the cash basis which is not 
in accordance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Section 27 – Accruals Basis of Accounting. 
IAS 1 states that an entity shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, using the 
accruals basis of accounting. Had the Credit Union recognised interest revenue on the accruals basis; the 
accounts receivables and prepayments balance would have increased by $10.8m in 2017 (2016: $12.8m) 
and the provision would have increased by $9.4m in 2017 (2016: $11.1m). These adjustments will result in 
an increase in the brought forward net surplus attributable to members as at January 1, 2016 of $1.2m, an 
increase of $523k as at December 31, 2016 and a decrease of $276k as at December 31, 2017 culminating 
an increase of $1.4m as at December 31, 2017.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Credit Union in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics of Professional Accountants (“IESBA 
Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the current period. Key audit matters are selected from matters 
communicated with those charged with governance. These matters were addressed in the context of the 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and the auditor does not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Key Audit Matters How our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter
Revenue Recognition

The Credit Union recognises loan interest revenue 
on the cash basis. This is not in accordance with IAS 
1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’: Section 27 
– Accruals Basis of Accounting. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

The opening balances in the 2017 property, plant 
and equipment (PPE) register was not consistent 
with the closing balances in the 2016 PPE register.

Provision for Loan Loss

Loans to members represents 36% of the Credit 
Union’s assets while the provision for loan loss is 
approximately 3% of its loans to members.

There is a risk that the provision may be incorrectly 
valued resulting in a misstatement of net surplus 
for the year attributable to members.

We assessed the Credit Union’s accounting policy 
for recognising loan interest revenue on a cash 
basis for compliance with IAS 1 ‘Presentation of 
Financial Statements’: Section 27 – Accruals Basis 
of Accounting. 

We reviewed management’s adjustments for 
recording loan interest revenue on the cash basis. 

We assessed and quantified retrospectively the 
impact on the statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income of record-
ing loan interest revenue on the accruals basis. 

We reviewed the reconciliation of the differenc-
es between the opening 2017 PPE register and 
closing 2016 PPE register.

Based on the results of the review it was deter-
mined that the effect of the differences between 
the opening and closing balances was not ma-
terial to the prior year and current year financial 
statements.

We performed testing on the loan loss provision 
to determine whether the provision was reason-
able and adequate. 

Audit procedures were performed to ensure 
that the system calculated the correct provision 
based on the number of months a member was 
delinquent.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Credit Union’s 2017 Annual Report but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereof. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Credit Union’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Credit Union or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Credit Union’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue the auditors’ report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Credit Union’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Credit Union’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Credit Union to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entity or business 
activities within the Credit Union to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Credit Union’s audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical matters regarding independence.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Giles Leung.

Grant Thornton 
ORBIT Solutions
Port of Spain,
March 28, 2018

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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  2017 2016
 Notes $ $
ASSETS   
Cash and cash equivalents  7 93,653,612   158,638,557 
Investments 8 1,113,025,925 1,038,726,390
Loans to members 9 728,365,396 699,545,002
Property, plant and equipment 10 65,637,368 60,626,600
Investment properties 12 16,940,091 16,940,091
Accounts receivable and prepayments 13        21,151,101        15,207,399

TOTAL ASSETS  2,038,773,493  1,989,684,039

   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
   
Equity   
Capital reserve 14 8,905,919 8,905,919
Investment re-measurement reserve 15 2,195,884 78,850
Reserve fund 16 86,374,938 80,974,245
Education fund 17 675,000 675,000
Charity fund 18 235,000 235,000
Group life reserve 19 3,867,188 3,229,857
Retained earnings     119,954,689      115,833,210

Total equity     222,208,618      209,932,081

   
Liabilities   
Members’ deposits 20 244,420,200 251,587,023
Accounts payable and accruals 21 20,774,334 18,443,518
Retirement benefit liability 22 4,625,000 3,196,000
Due to deceased and former members  12,264,846 14,886,274
Members’ shares 23 1,534,480,495   1,491,639,143

Total liabilities  1,816,564,875   1,779,751,958

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  2,038,773,493   1,989,684,039

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

__________________            _____________________            ______________________________
  President                                   Honorary Treasurer                        Member of the Supervisory Committee

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017   
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

  2017 2016
 Notes $ $
Revenue   
Income 24 116,116,730 105,373,050
Interest expense      (3,456,173)     (3,862,858)

   
Net income  112,660,557 101,510,192
   
Repayment of impaired investment income  - 22,166,231
Other (expenses)/income 25 (547,442) 291,894
Gain on foreign currency translation        473,215   12,086,371
   
  112,586,330 136,054,688

Expenses   
Administrative and other 26 24,681,037 24,258,886
Salaries, wages and associated benefits 27 24,247,700 25,360,104
CUNA insurance premium  8,127,800 7,641,407
Officers’ expenses 28 804,793 623,381
Education fund expenses  453,544 448,227
Charity fund expenses  212,726 225,672
Finance costs            51,805                 26,917

   
Total expenses    58,579,405   58,584,594

   
Net surplus attributable to members for the year    54,006,925   77,470,094

   
Other comprehensive income   
Unrealised gain/(loss) on available-for-sale investments      2,117,034     (3,800,706)

   
Total comprehensive income for the year    56,123,959    73,669,388

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

      Group  Total
 Capital  Reserve Education Charity life Retained members’
 reserve Investment fund fund fund  reserve earnings equity
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2017 8,905,919 78,850 80,974,245 675,000 235,000 3,229,857 115,833,210 209,932,081
Other comprehensive income - 2,117,034 - - - - - 2,117,034
Surplus for the year                 -              -               -            -            -              -    54,006,925    54,006,925

Total comprehensive income                 - 2,117,034               -            -            -              -    54,006,925   56,123,959

Dividends paid - - - - - - (44,478,165) (44,478,165)
Transfer from net income - - 5,400,693 453,544 212,726 637,331 (6,073,551) 630,743
Funds expenditure                 -              -                - (453,544) (212,726)              -       666,270                  -

Balance as at December 31, 2017 8,905,919 2,195,884 86,374,938 675,000 235,000 3,867,188 119,954,689 222,208,618

Balance as at January 1, 2016 8,905,919 3,879,556 73,221,809 675,000 235,000 3,229,857  86,848,400 176,995,541
Other comprehensive income - (3,800,706) - - - - - (3,800,706)
Surplus for the year                -               -               -           -           -              - 77,470,094   77,470,094

Total comprehensive income                 - (3,800,706)               -           -           -              - 77,470,094   73,669,388

  Dividends paid - - - - - - (40,736,979) (40,736,979)
  Transfer from net income - - 7,747,010 448,227 225,672 - (8,416,778)        4,131
  Funds expenditure                 -              -         5,426  (448,227) (225,672)              -       668,473                  -

Balance as at December 31, 2016 8,905,919     78,850 80,974,245 675,000 235,000 3,229,857 115,833,210 209,932,081
        

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

 2017 2016
 $ $
Cash flows from operating activities  
Net surplus attributable to members for the year 54,006,925 77,470,094
Adjustments for:  
Depreciation 7,855,304  6,087,742
Gain on foreign currency translation (473,215) (12,086,371)
Decrease/(increase) in provision for losses 3,357,482      (18,491)
Deposit to reserves 630,743 4,131
Adjustments to property, plant and equipment  -    750,534
Retirement benefit cost     1,253,000        977,000

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 66,630,239 73,184,639
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and prepayments (5,943,702) 35,327,098
Increase in loans to members (32,177,877) (67,238,906)
Decrease in members’ deposits (7,166,821) (14,907,149)
Increase in accounts payable and accruals 2,330,816  4,347,457
Increase in retirement benefit contributions paid          176,000     1,976,000

Net cash generated from operating activities   23,848,655   32,689,139

Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12,866,072) (12,029,581)
Net purchases of investments  (71,709,286)   36,003,151

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities  (84,575,358)    23,973,570

Cash flows from financing activities   
(Decrease)/increase in deceased and former members’ balances (2,621,429)  4,255,203
Increase in members’ shares 42,841,352 85,896,789
Dividends paid   (44,478,165)  (40,736,979)

Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities    (4,258,242)   49,415,013

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (64,984,945) 106,077,722
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 158,638,557   52,560,835

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 7)   93,653,612 158,638,557
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

1. Corporate information

TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Limited (“the Credit Union”) was incorporated under the Co-
operative Societies Act of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago on January 2, 1947. Its registered office 
is situated at TECU House, Southern Main Road, Marabella. It operates for the benefit of employees, 
pensioners and contractors of the Petroleum Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited. Its successors, 
subsidiaries and associated companies and institutions and who are closely connected with the 
bonafide employees, pensioners and contractors as stated above and such persons and personnel of 
companies and institutions approved by the Board of Directors.

The Credit Union operates resorts and is also an insurance agent for Guardian General Limited and 
CUNA Caribbean Insurance Society Limited. 

On March 28, 2018, the Board of Directors of the Credit Union authorised these financial statements 
for issue.

2. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

These financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the 
measurement at fair value of available-for-sale investments and certain other financial instruments.

The Credit Union’s functional and presentation currency is the Trinidad and Tobago dollar. 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain 
critical accounting estimates and to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Credit Union’s 
accounting policies. It also requires the use of assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of income and expenditure during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results 
may ultimately differ from those estimates.

3. Changes in accounting policy

a) New, revised and amended standards effective January 1, 2017

Amendments to IFRSs that became mandatorily effective in 2017 do not have a material impact 
on these financial statements and therefore the disclosures have not been made.

b) New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective 
Certain new, revised and amended standards and interpretations have been issued which are not yet 
effective for the current year and which the Credit Union has not early-adopted. The Credit Union has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, amendments and interpretations with respect to 
the Credit Union’s operations and has determined that the following are likely to have an effect on the 
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

3. Changes in accounting policy (continued)

b) New, revised and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective  (continued)
• IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2018, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement’. IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement 
of financial assets and liabilities, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating 
impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also 
carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 
39. Although the permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value though profit or loss (FVTPL) - are 
similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into the appropriate measurement category are 
significantly different. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit 
loss’ model, which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an impairment 
allowance is recognised.
The Credit Union is in the process of assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 
2018 financial statements.

• IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which distinguishes between 
on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet operating leases. Instead, there is a single, 
on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities 
will be required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. 
The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total lease expense will be higher in the 
early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption will 
apply to short- term leases and for low-value items with value of US$5,000 or less.
Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to classify 
leases as finance and operating leases. Finance lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 lease 
accounting, with recognition of net investment in lease comprising lease receivable and residual 
asset. Operating lease accounting will be based on IAS 17 operating lease accounting.
Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ is also adopted.
The Credit Union is in the process of assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 
2019 financial statements.

• IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ presents new requirements for the recognition 
of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’. The new standard establishes a control-based revenue 
recognition model and provides additional guidance in many areas not covered in detail 
under existing IFRSs, including how to account for arrangements with multiple performance 
obligations, variable pricing, customer refund rights, supplier repurchase options, and other 
common complexities. IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. 
The Credit Union is in the process of assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 
2018 financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

4. Summary of significant accounting policies

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, deposits with banks, and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and subject to insignificant risk 
of changes in value. They are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

b) Investments

The Credit Union has classified all investments into the following categories:

Held-to-maturity

These securities are held with the positive intention of holding them to maturity and are stated 
at amortised cost less provisions made for any permanent diminution in value. Amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any premium or discounts on acquisition over the period of 
maturity using the effective interest rate method.

Available-for-sale

These securities are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time but may be sold in 
response to the needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices. 
After initial recognition, available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised in the investment re-measurement reserve account.

For actively traded investments, fair value is determined by reference to stock exchange quoted 
market prices at the statement of financial position date, adjusted for transaction costs necessary 
to realise the investment. For investments where there is no quoted market price, the carrying 
value is deemed to approximate fair value. All “regular way” purchases and sales are recognised at 
settlement date. 

c) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables are measured at cost. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired.

d) Loans to members 

Loans to members are stated at principal amounts outstanding net of allowances for loan losses. 
Specific provisions are made for potential losses on non-performing loans on the basis of net 
realisable value. Periodic portfolio reviews are conducted during the course of each year to 
determine the adequacy of provisions. 

Loans are secured by various forms of collateral, including charges over tangible assets, certificates 
of deposit, and assignment of funds held with other financial institutions.

e) Trade payables 

Trade payables are a present obligation arising from past events which is expected to result in an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits.

Trade payables are initially measured at cost with gains or losses recognised in the statement of 
income. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f ) Members’ deposits

Members’ deposits are stated at the principal amounts invested by members together with any 
capitalised interest. Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from 
current market rates and are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate 
carrying values.

g)  Members’ shares

Members’ shares are classified as liabilities and consist of an unlimited number of shares valued 
at $5 each. 

h) Financial instruments 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the 
trade date, that is, the date on which the Credit Union commits itself to purchase or sell an asset. A 
regular way purchase and sale of financial assets is a purchase or sale of an asset under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established generally by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. 

Financial assets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, investments and 
loans to members.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Credit Union becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for 
transaction costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured 
initially at fair value. 

A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial liabilities are re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities comprise trade payables, members’ deposits and members’ shares.

Impairment of financial instruments 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished and the 
consideration paid is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The Credit Union assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

h) Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial instruments  (continued)

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable 
data that comes to the attention of the Credit Union about the following loss events:

i) Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor.
ii) A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.
iii) It is probable that the borrower will enter in bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
iv) The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
v) Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cashflows 

from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the 
decrease cannot yet be identified with individual financial assets in the group, including 
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Credit Union or national or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant. If the Credit Union determines that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a 
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

Impairment losses are recorded in an allowance account and are measured and recognised as 
follows: 

i) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
 The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised loss is reversed to the 
extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date that the impairment is 
reversed. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

ii) Financial assets measured at cost
 The difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 
the current market’s rate of return for similar financial assets is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. These losses are not reversed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
the manner intended by management.

Depreciation is provided on the reducing balance method, except for computer equipment and 
software, which is depreciated on the straight-line basis.

The following rates, considered appropriate to write-off the assets over their estimated useful 
lives, are applied:

Buildings - 2 ½% - 5%
Computer equipment and software  - 20%
Office furniture and equipment - 10% - 33 1/3%
Beach house furniture - 20% - 33 1/3%
Motor vehicles -    20%
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if there is an indication of a prospective change since the last reporting date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated future economic benefits. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within other income in the statement of income.

The Credit Union’s leasehold lands have been acquired under long-term leases ranging in terms 
from 199 years to 999 years. In view of the long-term nature of these leases, no amortisation is 
considered necessary.

j) Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
property under construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at 
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are 
measured in accordance with the cost model as set out in International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 
16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, i.e. cost less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated 
impairment losses except for land which is not depreciated and is recognised at cost.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 
period in which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

4. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

k) Pension plan

All permanent employees of the Credit Union are members of TECU Credit Union Co-operative 
Society Limited’s Pension Fund Plan (“the Plan”), which is a defined benefit plan. Provision is made 
for pension benefits based on the Plan’s members’ salaries. Pension benefits are based upon 
contributions made by members and the Credit Union during employment and determined 
by actuarial valuations of the Pension Fund Plan. IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, requires the use 
of actuarial techniques on an annual basis to measure the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the related current service cost and the actuarial gains and losses.

Under the terms of a trust deed dated October 26 1981, the Trustees have entered into a Group 
Deposit Administration contract with Colonial Life Insurance Company (Trinidad) Limited for the 
purpose of administering the Pension Fund Plan.

l) Due to deceased and former members 

Any amounts outstanding to deceased and former members’ accounts are transferred to a special 
account. The Credit Union is, however, still liable for payments of these amounts upon notification 
by the beneficiaries or the former members

m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows.

n) Revenue recognition

Loan interest

Interest on members’ loans is accounted for on a cash basis.

Investment income

Income from investments is accounted for on the accruals basis except for dividends, which are 
accounted for on a cash basis.

Other income and expenses

Other income and expenses are accounted for on the accruals basis.

o) Dividends payable to members 

The dividend is computed on the basis of the average value of shares in issue throughout the year. 
The average being determined on the basis of the value of shares held at the end of each day.
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4. Significant accounting policies (continued)

p) Foreign currency 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are expressed in Trinidad and 
Tobago dollars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All revenue and expenditure 
transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the average rate and the resulting 
profits and losses on exchange from these trading activities are recorded in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

q) Comparative figures 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation 
in the current year. 

5. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors 

The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk, operational 
risk, compliance risk and reputation risk arising from the financial instruments that it holds. The risk 
management policies employed by the Credit Union to manage these risks are discussed below:  

a)  Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate 
risk through the effect of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of interest rates on interest bearing 
financial assets and liabilities, including investments in bonds, loans, customer deposits and other 
funding instruments. 

The exposure is managed through the matching of funding products with financial services and 
monitoring market conditions and yields.

i) Bonds
 The Credit Union invests mainly in medium to long term bonds consisting of both floating rate 

and fixed rate instruments. The market values of the fixed rate bonds are not very sensitive to 
changes in interest rates. The market values of the floating rate bonds are sensitive to changes 
in interest rates. The longer the maturity of the bonds, the greater is the sensitivity to changes 
in interest rates. As these assets are being held to maturity and are not traded, any changes in 
market value will not impact the statement of comprehensive income. 

 The Credit Union actively monitors bonds with maturities greater than ten years, as well as the 
interest rate policies of the Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago.

ii) Loans 
 The Credit Union generally invests in fixed rate loans and variable rate mortgages. These are 

funded mainly from member deposits and shares.
 The table below summarises the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risks. Included in the 

table are the Credit Union’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts:
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

a) Interest rate risk (continued)

 Due on Due in Due 2-5 Due over Non-interest Carrying
 demand 1 year years 5 years bearing amount
 $ $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2017      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 90,355,408 - - - 3,298,204 93,653,612
Investments - 354,719,502 309,715,705 448,590,719 - 1,113,025,926
Loans to members - 21,584,276 94,258,101 612,523,019 - 728,365,396
Accounts receivable                          - - - - 21,151,101 21,151,101

        90,355,408 376,303,778 403,973,806 1,061,113,738 24,449,305 1,956,196,035

Liabilities      
Members’ deposits - 51,643,192 187,718,274 - 5,058,734 244,420,200
Accounts payable 
  and accruals - - - - 20,774,334 20,774,334
Due to deceased 
  and former members 12,264,846 - - - - 12,264,846
Members’ shares   1,534,480,495  -   -  - - 1,534,480,495

   1,546,745,341 51,643,192 187,718,274  - 25,833,068 1,811,939,875

Interest sensitivity gap (1,456,389,933) 324,660,586 216,255,532 1,061,113,738  (1,383,763) 144,256,160

As at December 31, 2016      
Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents 155,973,065 - - - 2,665,492 158,638,557
Investments - 374,142,062 319,929,540 344,654,788 - 1,038,726,390
Loans to members - 21,515,483 435,785,659 242,243,860 - 699,545,002
Accounts receivable                          -  -  -  - 15,207,399 15,207,399

      155,973,065 395,657,545 755,715,199 586,898,648 17,872,891 1,912,117,348

Liabilities      
Members’ deposits - 51,430,643 195,691,618 - 4,464,762 251,587,023
Accounts payable 
  and accruals - - - - 18,443,518 18,443,518
Due to deceased 
  and former members 14,886,274 - - - - 14,886,274
Members’ shares  1,491,639,143  -  -  -  - 1,491,639,143

  1,506,525,417 51,430,643 195,691,618  - 22,908,280 1,776,555,958

Interest sensitivity gap (1,350,552,352) 344,226,902 560,023,581 586,898,648  (5,035,389)  135,561,390
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5. Financial risk management (continued) 

b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when a failure by counter parties to discharge their obligations could reduce the 
amount of future cash inflows from financial assets on hand at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. The Credit Union relies heavily on a written Loan Policy Manual, which sets out in detail 
the current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive framework for 
prudent risk management of the credit function. 

Adherence to these guidelines is expected to communicate the Credit Union’s lending philosophy; 
provide policy guidelines to team members involve in lending; establish minimum standards for 
credit analysis, documentation, decision making and post-disbursement administration; as well as 
create the foundation for a sound credit portfolio.

The Credit Union’s loan portfolio is managed and consistently monitored by the Credit Committee 
and is adequately secured by collateral and where necessary, provisions have been established for 
potential credit losses on delinquent accounts.

Cash balances are held with high credit quality financial institutions and the Credit Union has 
policies to limit the amount of exposure to any single financial institution. 

The Credit Union also actively monitors global economic developments and government policies 
that may affect the growth rate of the local economy.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity dates of assets and liabilities do not match. 
An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of losses. 
The Credit Union has procedures with the object of minimising such losses such as maintaining 
sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having available an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities. 

The Credit Union is able to make daily calls on its available cash resources to settle financial and 
other liabilities.

Following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

 Due on Due in Due 2- 5 Due over 
 demand 1 year years 5 years Total
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2017     
Liabilities     
Members’ deposits - 56,701,929 187,718,271 - 244,420,200
Accounts payable 
  and accruals - 20,774,334 - - 20,774,334
Due to deceased and 
  former members 12,264,846 - - - 12,264,846
Members’ shares 1,534,480,495  -  -  - 1,534,480,495

Total liabilities  1,546,745,341 77,476,263 187,718,271  - 1,811,939,875
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 Due on Due in Due 2- 5 Due over 
 demand 1 year years 5 years Total
 $ $ $ $ $
As at December 31, 2016     
Liabilities     
Members’ deposits - 55,895,405 195,691,618 - 251,587,023
Accounts payable and accruals - 18,443,518 - - 18,443,518
Due to deceased and 
former members 14,886,274 - - - 14,886,274
Members’ shares 1,491,639,143  - -  - 1,491,639,143

Total liabilities  1,506,525,417 74,338,923 195,691,618  - 1,776,555,958

Risk management

 The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and 
liabilities are fundamental to the management of the Credit Union. The Credit Union employs 
various asset/liability techniques to manage liquidity gaps. Liquidity gaps are mitigated by the 
marketable nature of a substantial segment of the Credit Union’s assets as well as generating 
sufficient cash from new and renewed members’ deposits and shares.

 To manage and reduce liquidity risk the Credit Union’s management actively seeks to match cash 
inflows with liability requirements.

d) Currency risk 

 Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised 
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Credit Union’s measurement 
currency. The Credit Union is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures primarily with respect to the United States Dollar. The Credit Union’s management 
monitors the exchange rate fluctuations on a continuous basis and acts accordingly. 

The carrying amounts of the Credit Union’s United States dollar denominated monetary assets at 
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 2017 2016
 $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 25,487,407 29,694,044
Investments 303,680,250 264,100,156

 329,167,657 293,794,200

Sensitivity analysis is based on the Credit Union’s foreign currency financial instruments held at 
each reporting date. Assuming a +/- 5% change of the USD exchange rate for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 (2016: 5%) ‘all other things being equal’ if the value of the USD is strengthened 
by 5%, profit for the year would increase by $16.5m (2016: $14.7m), conversely if the value of the 
USD is weakened by 5%, surplus would decrease by $16.5m (2016: $14.7m).
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5. Financial risk management (continued)

e) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk derived from deficiencies relating to the Credit Union’s information 
technology and control systems, as well as the risk of human error and natural disasters. The Credit 
Union’s systems are evaluated, maintained and upgraded continuously. Supervisory controls are 
installed to minimise human error. Additionally, staff is often rotated and trained on an on-going 
basis. 

f ) Compliance risk 

Compliance risk is the risk of financial loss, including fines and other penalties, which arise from 
non-compliance with laws and regulations of the state. The risk is limited to a significant extent 
due to the supervision applied by the Commissioner for Co-operative Development, as well as by 
the monitoring controls applied by the Credit Union. The Credit Union has a Compliance Officer as 
well as an Internal Audit Department which does routine reviews on compliance.

g) Reputation risk 

The risk of loss of reputation arising from the negative publicity relating to the Credit Union’s 
operations (whether true or false) may result in a reduction of its clientele, reduction in revenue 
and legal cases against the Credit Union. The Credit Union engages in public social endeavours to 
engender trust and minimise this risk. 

6. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions in the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies (see basis of preparation).

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The Credit Union makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. However, 
actual results could differ from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

Changes in accounting estimates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the 
period in which the estimate is changed, if the change affects that period only, or in the period of the 
change and future periods if the change affects both current and future periods.

The critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are as follows: 

i) Provision for loan loss

ii) Pension plan assumptions

iii) Fair value 

iv) Depreciation method adopted for property, plant and equipment
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6. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
statement of financial position date (requiring management’s most difficult, subjective or complex 
judgements) that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

i) Impairment of assets

Management assesses at each reporting date whether assets are impaired. An asset is impaired 
when the carrying value is greater than its recoverable amount and there is objective evidence 
of impairment. Recoverable amount is the present value of the future cash flows. Provisions are 
made for the excess of the carrying value over its recoverable amount.

ii) Plant and equipment

Management exercises judgement in determining whether future economic benefits can be 
derived from expenditures to be capitalised, in estimating the useful lives, and in estimating 
residual values of those assets.

7.  Cash and cash equivalents

 2017 2016
 $ $

Cash on hand 3,298,204 2,665,492
Current accounts held at bank 41,098,211 47,544,591
Mutual funds   49,257,197 108,428,474

    93,653,612 158,638,557
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8. Investments

 2017 2016
 $ $

Available-for-sale  
Quoted  
Ansa McAl Limited - 109,918 shares  6,923,735 7,309,547
CLICO Investments Fund 320,000 units 6,720,000 7,238,400
First Citizens Bank Limited – 202,101 shares 19,467,232 7,069,493
First Citizens Bank Limited (El Tucuche Fund) – 767,978 units 9,698,554 9,577,429
Grace Kennedy Limited - 143,433 shares 430,299 382,966
Guardian Holdings Limited - 76,959 shares 1,310,611 973,531
Jamaican Money Market Brokers Limited - 202,906 shares 334,795 182,615
KCL CMBL - 1,000,000 Preference shares 1,000,000 1,000,000
National Commercial Bank of Jamaica Limited - 100,000 shares 627,000 300,000
National Enterprises Limited - 276,100 shares 2,705,780 2,940,465
Neal and Massy Holdings Limited - 38,678 shares 1,857,318 2,011,256
Plipdeco Limited – 77,700 shares 306,138 287,490
Praetorian Property Mutual Fund - 400,000 units 1,220,000 1,104,000
Republic Bank Limited – 15,677 shares 1,591,372 1,700,016
Royal Bank of Canada – 6,388 shares 3,588,229 2,917,857
Sagicor Financial Corporation - 175,900 shares  1,377,297 1,359,707
SavInvest India Asia Mutual Fund - 110,031 units 8,475,970 6,506,360
Scotiabank Bond Fund - 372,939 units 6,715,578 6,586,981
Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited - 50,000 shares 3,005,000 2,942,000
Phoenix Park Gas Processors Ltd - 368,381 shares 9,762,097 3,203,907
Unilever Caribbean Limited - 32,667 shares 947,343 1,954,793
UTC Calypso Macro Index fund 995,775 shares   21,309,585   21,797,515

  109,373,933   89,346,328

Unquoted  
Central Finance Facility Co-operative Society of T&T Ltd - 2 shares 50,000 50,000
LINCU Limited - 2,250,001 shares     2,562,001     2,562,001

      2,612,001     2,612,001

Total available-for-sale 111,985,935   91,958,329
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8. Investments (continued)

 2017 2016
 $ $

Held for trading  
RBC Portfolio Management 12,226,522 10,715,504
FCIS Portfolio Management   15,411,470   14,275,369

    27,637,992   24,990,873

Short-term held-to-maturity
Fixed deposits 55,016,427 31,220,339
Repurchase agreements 160,079,149 228,846,522

Total 215,095,576 260,066,861

Long-term held-to-maturity  

ANSA Merchant 3.35% due 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
ANSA Merchant 4.0% USD 2021 13,525,500 13,492,000
ANSA 4.62% USD FXR Loan Notes 2024 12,607,515 -
ANSA 4.62% USD FXR Loan Notes 2024 - II 2,957,387 -
Caribbean Dev. Bank Limited 4.75% Fixed Rate (FXR)Bond 2027 13,572,285 13,788,271
Caroni (1975) Limited 6% FXR Bond 2018 751,510 1,509,131
Cayman Island 5.95% FXR Bond 2019 7,129,241 7,296,258
ETECK FXR Loan #17 2021  23,319,790 22,633,981
ETECK FXR Loan #20 2022  21,157,467 20,497,450
FCIS 4.25% Fixed Bond 2022 15,000,000 15,000,000
First CARIBB 3.45% FXRB 2018 10,000,000 10,000,000
Global Market Holdings Inc. 2.00% TTD FXR 
  Medium Term Note 2024 23,639,388 -
GORTT 4.25% FXR TTD Bond 2032 12,566,667 -
GOTT - Government of Trinidad and Tobago (USD) 9.75% FXR 
  Notes 2020 14,130,904 14,267,486
GOTT (USD) 9.75% FXR Notes 2020 7,139,909 7,229,979
GOTT 2.2% FXR Bond Due 2021, 1,963,009 1,966,608
GOTT 2.20% FXR Bond due 2026,  7,566,262 8,414,193
GOTT 2.30% FXR Bond 2026 II 9,416,280 10,467,026
GOTT 2.4% FXR USD Bond 2020 III 7,961,398 8,393,375
GOTT 2.50% Fixed Rate Bond 2023 5,052,210 5,060,846
GOTT 2.60% Fixed Rate Bond 2020   13,158,651    13,222,785

Balance carried forward 242,615,373 193,239,389
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8. Investments (continued)

Long-term held-to-maturity (continued)
 2017 2016
 $ $

Balance brought forward  242,615,373 193,239,389
GOTT 2028 Zero Coupon Series 20, 26 & 30 48,021,457 46,143,367
GOTT 3.1% USD FXR Bond 2028 8,189,096 8,906,237
GOTT 3.80% FXR TTD BOND 2022 10,688,000 10,688,000
GOTT 4.10% TTD FXR Bond 2025 9,990,734 -
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,430,689 3,429,220
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,603,967 3,627,842
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 3,604,523 3,628,431
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 IV 7,162,634 7,210,887
GOTT 4.375% USD Bond 2024 - V 3,410,435 -
GOTT 5.2% FXR Bond 2027 21,919,993 22,078,548
GOTT 5.95% FXR Bond 2023 5,045,000 5,052,129
GOTT 6.00% FXR Bond 2031 10,580,681 10,608,299
GOTT 6.20% FXR Bond 2018 2,026,168 2,055,620
GOTT 6.50% FXR Bond 2025 27,853,776 27,939,272
GOTT 7.75% FXR Bonds 2024  20,393,000 20,393,000
GOTT 8.25% FXR Bond 2017 - 3,872,000
GOTT Zero Coupon (Clico) 2021  15,043,034 14,554,427
Guardian Holdings Ltd 5.92% TTD FXR Bond 2022 520,039 -
Gulf City Bond 2020  5,681,005 5,922,148
HDC - Housing Development Corporation 
   8.70% FXR Bonds 2023 4,372,000 4,372,000
HDC 4.15% TTD FXR Loan 2024 12,071,429 -
HDC 8.25% FXR Bonds 2024 1,138,000 1,138,000
National Insurance Property Development Company Limited 
  (NIPDEC) 6.8% FXR Bond 2022 20,000,000 20,000,000
NIPDEC 4.00% FXR Bond 2023 10,147,210 10,159,585
NIPDEC 5.15% FXR Bond 2025  12,286,689 12,381,502
NIPDEC 6.25% FXR Bond 2028 5,000,000 5,000,000
NML Zero Coupon Series 25 2027 - 3,450,916
NML Zero Coupon Series 37 2020     5,508,387      5,292,745

Balance carried forward 520,303,319 451,143,564
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8. Investments (continued)

Long-term held-to-maturity (continued)
 2017 2016
 $ $

Balance brought forward  520,303,319 451,143,564
NML Zero Coupon Series 39 2020 5,347,198 5,136,001
NML Zero Coupon Series 40 2020 1,184,947 1,136,915
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 2,153,272 2,598,643
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 2,276,693 2,724,564
Petrotrin (USD) 6% FXR Bond 2022 2,508,246 3,052,077
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% FXR Note 2019 27,917,602 28,232,493
Petrotrin (USD) 9.75% FXR Note 2019 II 14,685,732 15,185,133
Phoenix Park GPL US Bond 2021 3,944,937 5,059,500
Prestige Holdings Limited 6.25% FXR Bond 2023 1,383,586 1,636,737
Republic Bank Limited 4.75% FXR Bond 2027 7,100,000 7,100,000
Republic Bank Limited 8.55% FXR Bonds 2018 5,000,000 5,000,000
Royal Bank of Canada Limited 4.75% FXR Bond 2022 3,181,459 3,196,284
Sport Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited 
  Loan series 28, 29&30 51,417,962 49,442,719
Trinidad Generation Unlimited 5.25% USD BOND 2027 6,744,094 6,725,762
TSTT 6.01% TTD Bond 2029 20,000,000 -
TTMF 4.62% FXRB 2021 – Series 1 13,000,000 13,000,000
TTMF 5.35% TTD BOND 2026 - SERIES E 10,000,000 -
TTMF Notes Series 6,9 & 11, 2019  19,500,000 25,000,000
TTMF VAR BOND 2025 – Series 2 13,000,000 13,000,000
TTMF Zero Coupon Series 5, 8, 10 & 20 3,500,000 8,500,000
Urban Development Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited 
  (UDECOTT) 1.95% FXR Bond 2022 5,589,282       6,714,936
UDECOTT 1.95% FXR Loan 2021 6,500,000 8,125,000
UDECOTT 5.05% TTD FXR Loan 2026     12,068,093                     -
Total long-term held-to-maturity    758,306,422     661,710,327

Total investments 1,113,025,925 1,038,726,390
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9. Loans to members

 2017 2016
 $ $

Character loans 378,391,312 368,504,218
Co-maker loans 12,297,405 12,037,716
Mortgage bill of sale loans 112,528,015 118,362,092
Computer loans 413,592 659,776
Mortgages 215,539,898 204,319,384
Investments    35,967,965    28,465,755

  755,138,187 732,348,941
Less: Loans due from deceased members      (3,579,926)     (2,759,643)

  751,558,261 729,589,298
Less:  Provision for loan losses (see note below)   (23,192,865)   (30,044,296)

   728,365,396  699,545,002

Provision for loan losses  
Balance as at January 1 30,044,296 30,083,103
Provision for loan losses charged to surplus 3,211,982 (18,491)
Provision for loan losses transferred - (20,316)
Loans written off   (10,063,413)                      -      

Balance as at December 31    23,192,865    30,044,296
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10. Property, plant and equipment

    Office Beach  Capital Total
  Land & Computer furniture & house Motor -in- work
   building equipment   equipment furniture  vehicles  progress 
  $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost              
Balance as at 1 January 2017 32,370,245   26,039,530   20,894,246 10,975,963 465,112  10,945,076  101,690,172 
Additions  685,253  2,264,303  183,070   416,529  -  9,316,917  12,866,072 
Transfers 1,920,012 9,441,764 (2,784,594) (1,920,012) -  (6,657,170) -

Balance as at 
31 December 2017 34,975,510 37,745,597 18,292,722 9,472,480 465,112 13,604,823 114,556,244

Accumulated Depreciation              
Balance as at 1 January 2017 12,594,126   18,582,107   8,060,829  1,568,264  258,246   - 41,063,572 
Charge for the year  723,279 4,116,849  2,249,818  779,149 (13,791) -  7,855,304

Balance as at 
31 December 2017 13,317,405 22,698,956 10,310,647 2,347,413 244,455 - 48,918,876

Net book value               
Balance as at 
31 December 2017 21,658,105 15,046,641  7,982,075 7,125,067 220,657 13,604,823  65,637,368

Balance as at 
31 December 2016 19,776,119   7,457,423  12,833,417  9,407,699  206,866  10,945,076   60,626,600 

Cost       
Balance as at January 1, 2016 33,382,187 19,578,583 13,513,475 1,166,025 665,209 22,935,026 91,240,505
Additions - 36,237 2,006,478 64,251 - 9,953,527 12,060,493
Transfers 859,867 7,316,215 6,321,909 7,414,574 -  (21,943,477)  (30,912)
Adjustments  (1,871,809)  (891,505)  (947,616) 2,331,113 (200,097) - (1,579,914)

Balance as at 
31 December 2016 32,370,245 26,039,530 20,894,246 10,975,963 465,112 10,945,076 101,690,172

Accumulated depreciation       
Balance as at January 1, 2016 11,910,295 16,464,342 6,480,671 685,201 264,699  - 35,805,208
Charge for the year  489,744 3,592,452 1,200,208  736,383 68,955  -  6,087,742
Adjustments  194,087 (1,474,687) 379,950 146,680  (75,408)  -  (829,378)

Balance as at 
31 December 2016 12,594,126 18,582,107  8,060,829 1,568,264 258,246  - 41,063,572

Net book value        
Balance as at 
31 December 2016 19,776,119  7,457,423 12,833,417 9,407,699 206,866 10,945,076 60,626,600

Balance as at 
31 December 2015 21,471,892  3,114,241 7,032,804  480,824 400,510 22,935,026 55,435,297



75 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CONNECTING WITH OUR MEMBERS

TECU
Credit Union

   “Creating and Securing Your Future”
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

11. Capital commitments

The Credit Union has a contractual commitment for land development of $9.1m (2016: $11.5m) 
payable in 2018. There were no other material contractual commitments to acquire property, plant 
and equipment as at December 31, 2017.

12. Investment properties

 2017 2016
 $ $

Land  
La Brea/Plaisance Park/Piparo 430,870 430,870
Tabaquite 93,783 93,783
La Sophie 69,429 69,429
Chaguanas 12,259,208 12,259,208
Blanchisseuse 28,847 28,847
Tobago – Mc Kay Hill 311,609 311,609
Tobago – Milford Road 992,213 992,213
The Orchard at Moka   2,754,132    2,754,132

  16,940,091   16,940,091

The Credit Union has adopted the Cost Model for accounting for its investment properties (Note 4. j)). 
An independent valuation was not performed to determine the market value of investment properties 
as at December 31, 2017. 

13. Accounts receivable and prepayments

 2017 2016
 $ $

Interest receivable on investments 10,626,013 10,960,052
Accounts receivable 12,363,821 6,906,645
Deferred charges and prepayments 306,830 335,388
Other receivables      523,362       179,159

  23,820,026 18,381,244
Provision for impairment (see note below)  (2,668,925)  (3,173,845)

  21,151,101  15,207,399
Provision for impairment:  
Balance as at January 1 3,173,845 3,194,161
Increase in provision during the year 161,422 -
Decrease in provision due to transfer      (666,342)        (20,316)

Balance as at December 31   2,668,925    3,173,845
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14. Capital reserve

This reserve includes appropriations transferred from retained earnings, as considered necessary by 
the Board of Directors.

15. Investment re-measurement reserve

In accordance with Bye Law 20 (viii), the Board of Directors has created an investment re-measurement 
reserve which consists of unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments.

16. Reserve fund

In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971, Section 47 (2) and Bye-Law 50 (1) of the 
Credit Union, at least 10% of the net surplus for the year of the Credit Union is to be appropriated to 
the Reserve Fund.

17. Education fund

In accordance with Bye Law 51 of the Credit Union, an amount not exceeding 5% of the net surplus 
for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund is transferred to an Education Fund. This 
fund is to be used for educational purposes, in accordance with Bye Law 46.

18. Charity fund

In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act, 1971 Section 50 and By-Law, an amount not 
exceeding 5% of the net surplus for the year, after making appropriations to the Reserve Fund, is 
transferred to the Charity Fund.

19. Group life reserve

The balance represents the accumulation of rebates received from Colonial Life Insurance Company 
(Trinidad) Limited from the policyholder’s reserve account. Rebates are issued based on claim 
experience and administration of the members’ group life insurance plan.

20. Members’ deposits

 2017 2016
 $ $

  Retirees’ deposits 214,048,788 224,054,179
  One year deposits 25,312,678 23,067,671
  Unclaimed deposits     5,058,734     4,465,173

  244,420,200 251,587,023
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

21. Accounts payable and accruals

 2017 2016
 $ $

Trade payable and accruals 16,554,073 15,462,914
Provisional deposits     4,220,261     2,980,604

    20,774,334  18,443,518

22. Retirement benefit liability

a)   Change in defined benefit obligations  

Defined benefit obligations at start of year 23,475,000 18,705,000
Service cost 1,709,000 1,702,000
Interest cost 1,050,000 828,000
Actuarial loss on obligation 364,000 2,859,000
Benefits paid     (282,000)      (619,000)

Defined benefit obligation at end 26,316,000  23,475,000

b)  Change in plan assets  

Plan assets at start of year 20,279,000 18,462,000
Expected return on plan assets 859,000 710,000
Actuarial loss  (691,000) (60,000)
Contributions 1,526,000 1,786,000
Benefits paid     (282,000)       (619,000)

Plan assets at end of year 21,691,000  20,279,000

c)   Items included in statement of financial position  

Defined benefit obligation (a)  (26,316,000) (23,475,000)
Fair value of assets (b) 21,691,000  20,279,000

Net IAS 19 defined benefit liability  (4,625,000)   (3,196,000)

d)  Items included in statement of comprehensive income  

Current service cost 1,062,000 945,000
Interest cost 80,000 60,000
Interest on Plan assets 111,000 (28,000)
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year                   -                    -

Net pension cost   1,253,000        977,000

e)   Reconciliation of opening and closing statement
   of financial position balances     

Opening defined benefit liability (3,196,000) (243,000)
Expense in statement of comprehensive income (1,253,000) (977,000)
Contributions paid     (176,000)   (1,976,000)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position  (4,625,000)   (3,196,000)



78ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CONNECTING WITH OUR MEMBERS

TECU
Credit Union

   “Creating and Securing Your Future”

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

22.  Retirement benefit liability (continued)  

 2017 2016
 $ $

f )   Actual return on plan assets  

Interest on plan assets 939,000 856,000
Actuarial loss on plan assets        (691,000)        (146,000)

Actual return on plan assets         248,000          710,000

  
g)  Summary of Principal Assumptions  

 2017 2016
 % %
Discount rate – prior to retirement 5.4 4.5
Discount rate – post retirement 5.4 4.5
Expense – prior to retirement (of contributions) - 3.5
Expense – post retirement (of annuity) - 3.5
Expected rate of salary increases 3.5 2.5
Expected return on plan assets N/A N/A

23.  Members’ shares

 In accordance with existing IFRSs and given the substance and the nature of members’ shares, this 
balance is accounted for as a liability and not as equity of the Credit Union. The Credit Union Bye Laws 
allow for the issue of an unlimited number of shares at $5.00 each.

24. Income

 2017 2016
 $ $

Loan interest  69,479,806 61,808,685
Investment income   46,636,924   43,564,365

  116,116,730 105,373,050

25.  Other (expenses)/income 

Insurance agency (net) 944,492 1,464,203
Beach houses (net) (Note 25 (a) below) (260,598) (20,251)
Coral Reef Guest House (net) (Note 25 (b) below) (982,327) (850,979)
Couva office (net) (232,697) (300,812)
Miscellaneous          (16,312)               (267)

         (547,442)         291,894
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25.  Other (expenses)/income 

a) Beach houses (net)
   2017   2016
  Rental  Surplus/ Rental  Surplus/ 
  Income Expenses  (Deficit) Income Expenses (Deficit)
  $ $ $ $ $ $
 Mayaro      
 House #1 57,833 92,731 (34,898) 20,463 23,942 (3,479)
 House #2 - 92,913 (92,913) - 11,959 (11,959)
 House #3 - 56,022 (56,022) - 12,010 (12,010)
 House# 4 - 92,104 (92,104) 2,911 17,902 (14,991)
 Balandra Condo 28,444   13,105    15,339 10,638 (11,550) 22,188

 Total 86,277 346,875 (260,598) 34,012 54,263 (20,251)

b) Coral reef guest house (net)

 2017 2016
 $ $

Income 1,346,467 1,176,965
Expenses  
Advertising and promotion 16,152 66,938
Bank charges 17,032 14,811
Cleaning supplies and toiletries 42,173 33,182
Contract service fee 300 10,500
Contribution to national insurance 36,349 25,821
Cutlery and crockery 1,835 32,335
Depreciation 995,673 205,851
Electricity 89,115 94,685
General maintenance 86,613 519,077
Insurance – fixed assets 113,728 135,410
Insurance - other 998 709
Legal and professional fees 27,630 32,400
Material and supplies other 33,442 48,149
Miscellaneous 132,187 76,706
Repair equipment  - 209
Repairs property 2,704 30,119
Salaries 267,706 187,316
Security 230,568 300,447
Staff travelling 4,881 -
Stationery 2,205 1,442
Subsistence 53,855 71,741
Telephone and faxes 17,510 17,776
Wages 152,241 116,995
Water rates         3,897          5,325

Total expenses 2,328,794  2,027,944

Deficit   (982,327)    (850,979)
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26. Administration and other expenses

 2017 2016
 $ $

Advertising and promotions 2,596,641 1,718,228
Annual general meeting 454,045 455,517
Audit fees 543,845 580,265
Branch operations Couva 857,148 915,234
Branch operation Marabella 2,093,608 2,743,517
Branch operation Point Fortin 817,998 822,771
Co-operative development (100,000) 222,797
Data processing 2,777,405 4,664,885
Depreciation 4,835,518 4,744,146
General maintenance 368,327 363,406
Insurance 289,678 220,522
Internet charges 40,878 51,011
Janitorial services 198,062 205,456
Legal and professional fees 775,732 810,445
Loan loss provision expense 3,371,003 -
Recovery of bad and doubtful debt - (20,317)
Miscellaneous 618,731 1,473,407
Office maintenance 43,571 164,703
Office building expense 1,472,496 1,482,143
Printing, postage and stationery 599,931 561,962
Security 103,348 111,554
Seminars and conventions 570,572 389,399
Staff training 850,302 527,563
Statutory levies 340,116 854,400
Subscriptions 52,382 49,879
Telephone and electricity       109,700       145,993

 24,681,037 24,258,886

  
27. Salaries, wages and associated benefits

 2017 2016
 $ $

Contract services 6,000 6,000
E.A.P. charges 95,238 95,238
Salaries, pension and national insurance contributions 22,740,357 23,894,630
Staff related insurance 176,831 206,754
Staff travel 629,771 515,212
Uniform allowance 236,343 302,650
Wages       363,160       339,620

 24,247,700 25,360,104
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28. Officers’ expenses

 2017 2016
 $ $

Group life  72,090 57,672
Meetings  289,413 318,874
Functions 51,160 6,717
Local travel 155,408 79,900
Allowances  236,722 160,218

 804,793 623,381

29. Employees

The number of persons employed at the Credit Union at December 31, 2017 totalled 187 (2016: 181).

30. Fair values

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where 
active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates 
and assumptions consistent with how market participants would price the instrument. Management 
bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible, but this is not always available. In that 
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual 
prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

 The following methods have been used to estimate the fair values of various classes of financial assets 
and liabilities:

a) Current assets and liabilities 

 The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities are a reasonable approximation of the fair 
values because of their short-term nature.

b) Members’ loans

 Loans are net of specific provisions for losses. These assets result from transactions conducted 
under typical market conditions and their values are not adversely affected by unusual terms. The 
inherent rates of interest in the portfolio approximate market conditions and yield discounted 
cash flow values which are substantially in accordance with financial statement amounts.

c) Investments

 The fair values of investments are determined on the basis of quoted market prices available at 
December 31, 2017.

d) Members’ deposits

 Members’ deposits bear interest at rates that are not significantly different from current rates and 
are assumed to have discounted cash flow values which approximate carrying values. 
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31. Capital risk management

The Credit Union manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to members and providing value to its members by offering loan and savings 
facilities. The Credit Union’s overall strategy remains unchanged from previous years.

The capital structure of the Credit Union consists of equity attributable to members, and comprises 
members’ shares, reserves and retained earnings.

32. Dividends

The Board of Directors declared a dividend of 3% of the average value of members’ shares in issue 
throughout the year for the year ended December 31, 2016. This dividend which totalled $44.5 million 
was paid in the May 2017 (2016: $40.7m paid in April 2016) and was not recorded as a liability in the 
statement of financial position, this is consistent with IAS 10 ‘Events after the Reporting Period’. 

33. Contingent liabilities

As at December 31, 2017, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Credit Union. 
No provision has been made as professional advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant losses 
will arise.

34. Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial decisions. 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union.

A number of transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
transactions were carried out on commercial terms at market rates.

Balances and transaction with related parties and key management personnel during the year were 
as follows:

 2017 2016
 $ $

Assets 
Loans to directors, key management 
  personnel and their close family members 20,212,113 19,615,332

Deposits and other liabilities 
Deposits held by directors, key management 
  personnel and their close family members 10,489,244 12,210,380

Shares held by directors, key management 
  personnel and their close family members 25,619,729 20,452,666

Key management compensation 
Short-term benefits 9,127,654   9,619,880
Post-employment benefits      493,915     524,467

   9,621,569 10,144,347
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RESOLUTIONS

1. Dividends 
Whereas TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) has realised a net surplus 
for the financial year ended December 31, 2017; and whereas Bye-Law 46 of TECU makes 
provision for the distribution of this surplus in accordance with the regulations of the Co-
operative Societies Act;
Be it resolved that a dividend of 3% be declared on members’ shares for the financial period 
January 01, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

2. Appointment of Auditors
Whereas Bye-Law 54 of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd (TECU) requires the 
Annual General Meeting to appoint an Auditor for the ensuing term;
Be it resolved that the firm Grant Thornton - Orbit Solutions be appointed Auditors of 
TECU for the financial period January 01, 2018 to December 31, 2018.

3. Bad Debts 
Whereas Bye-Law 15 (viii) of TECU Credit Union Co-operative Society Ltd makes provision 
for approval of Bad Debts at the Annual General Meeting;
Be it resolved that the sum of Five Million, One Hundred and Seventy-Five Thousand, 
Eight Hundred and Thirty dollars ($5,175,830.00) be written off by the Society.
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HEAD OFFICE MARABELLA

TECU HOUSE, Southern Main Road,
Marabella, Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-800-TECU (8328)
Fax: 868-658-2611
Email:administration@tecutt.com
Website: www.tecutt.com

Department Extension

Member Information 2285    
Loans 2330           
Fixed Deposits 2289, 2290
LinCU 2288
Insurance 2236

POINT FORTIN

28 Guapo Cap-de-Ville Road,
Point Fortin, Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-648-3597
Fax: 868-648-4873

Department Extension

Member Information 2504
Loans 2502

COUVA 

Southern Main Road, Couva,  
Trinidad W.I.
Tel: 868-679-6549
Fax: 868-679-2903

Department Extension

Member Information 2403
Loans 2402
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